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Introduction

518

This book, Meeting Continuing Obligations: A Handbook for Companies Listed on
Major Stock Exchanges, is a comprehensive guide designed to assist companies listed
on stock exchanges in the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR, the United States and
Singapore in navigating their continuing obligations.
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It offers a detailed examination of the listing rules pertinent to these stock exchanges,
addressing key areas such as regular disclosure, approval and disclosure of transactions,
transactions involving related parties, disclosure of material non-public information,
trading activities by substantial shareholders, directors, and supervisors, post-listing
share incentive plans, share repurchases, and restrictions on publicity.

AT MPEARST 1 ERAZ H B BRI, 8 5 B R e . 32 B E AT B
KRR Gy« BEARRIME B e . EEBR. EHFMEFNZ LG, Eili)a
P Bl [ g e A R ) S5 S i ST

Furthermore, this handbook discusses the recent regulatory developments such as the
Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act (HFCAA) and its interplay with the
auditing standards and oversight processes of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (PCAOB). These elements are essential for China-based companies
listed in the United States.
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The objective of this handbook is to provide listed companies, potential listing
applicants, and their compliance officers with the necessary knowledge and practical
insights to understand and adhere to key compliance obligations across these
jurisdictions. Understanding these requirements in different stock exchanges, each with
its own complexities, is vital for listed companies to ensure effective compliance.
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This handbook also offers a comparative analysis of the different regulatory
frameworks in the Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong SAR, the United States and
Singapore. This comparative perspective allows readers to understand the similarities
and differences between these jurisdictions, thereby enabling them to make informed
decisions about their compliance strategies.
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As the regulatory landscape changes from time to time, readers are encouraged to
consult with the respective stock exchanges, regulatory authorities and legal

professionals for the most up-to-date and accurate information regarding the latest
compliance requirements.
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Part I. General Information Disclosure Requirements

F—Ea: BAKEEWEER
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A

Regular disclosure of financial information
Tt 5545 B i 2 B8 R

According to the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on the Sci-Tech Innovation
Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, Rules Governing the Listing of Shares
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on the
ChiNext Market of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, of the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) (collectively referred to as “A-Share Listing Rules”), companies
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”’) and Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(“SZSE”) (including companies listed on the main board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (“Shanghai Main Board”) and companies listed on the main board
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“Shenzhen Main Board” together with
“Shanghai Main Board”, the “Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards”),
collectively referred to as the “A-share Main Board listed companies™); A-
share Main Board listed companies, companies listed on the Science and
Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“Sci-Tech
Innovation Board”) and companies listed on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (“ChiNext”), collectively referred to as “A-share listed companies”;
the SSE, SZSE, Sci-Tech Innovation Board and ChiNext, collectively referred
to as “A-share Exchange(s)”) must publish periodic financial information,
including annual reports, semi-annual reports and quarterly reports.

R CEHRIEZRAE 5 P iR BTy i iEs7 58 5 Pr R GURRUBR LTl
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1.1 Deadlines for the release of financial information

Wt 3515 B B R AT SRR

Performance forecasts

A S

If an A-share listed company that forecasts the occurrence of any of the
following circumstances in its annual operating results and financial position, it
shall make a notice within one month after the end of the financial year:

A BT AR WOHE A E WS SRR LN P I — 1), N
HEESTHERSRE—AH W AT -

(1) negative net profit;
EEINEVSHCIER
(2) achieving a turnaround in net profit;

AR S T

(3) achieving a profit, with net profit increases or decreases by more than 50%
over the same period of the previous year;

SKILEA, B AE S BRI B BT GE R B 50% L L

(4) the lower of the total profit, net profit, or net profit after deducting non-
recurring gains and losses is negative, and the operating income after
deducting income unrelated to the main business and income without
commercial substance is less than Specific value (RMB 300 million for
A-share Main Board listed companies, RMB100 million for Sci-Tech
Innovation Board listed companies and ChiNext listed companies);

ZAIREPSYTINIRE PRI MEE v 2 (1115 | 2ol 8 G [AF =)= OREL I NEEAR i A NN
HANBR 5 328 W55 76 5 B S5 N AIAS B 458 7 b S o HOUSON J5 1S
WIS THREE Gl A IRER BT AR E N 31278, kIR
b ARAMENEER B AENE N 11270

(5) negative net assets at the end of the period;
AR B U

(6) other circumstances as recognized by the A-share Exchange.

A2 5 Bl K H ARSI .
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If an A-share listed company is subject to compulsory delisting for financial
reasons and its shares have been issued a delisting risk warning, it must also
issue a performance forecast within one month after the end of the financial year.

A A I BT A] U S5 SReRHIR TG/, TSR s S il v XU &
AN, IR B T R A AR 1A A AT LS

If an A-share Main Board listed company forecasts the occurrence of any of the
above circumstances described in items (1) to (3) of the preceding paragraph in
its semi-annual operating results, it shall release a performance forecast within
15 days after the end of the semi-annual period. If a Sci-Tech Innovation

Board listed company forecasts the occurrence of any of the above
circumstances described in items (1) to (6) of the preceding paragraph in its
semi-annual and quarterly results, it can release a performance forecast, but
there is no mandatory performance forecast requirement.

A BER BT AR TR R E WS BT (1D BES (3)
WUEIE 2 —H), NA7EREFEERIE 15 BT S . B A A
WitaE RSB ERS (D 2% (6) IEKL —1, A
BABEAT NG, BT B S 2K

Where a A-share Main Board listed company forecasts to make a profit during

the reporting period and its net profit will increase or decrease by more than 50%
over the same period of the previous year, it may be exempted from disclosing
a corresponding performance forecast as required by item (3) above under any
of the following circumstances: (a) the absolute value of earnings per share for
the previous year was less than or equal to RMBO0.05; (b) the absolute value of
earnings per share for the first half of the previous year was less than or equal
to RMBO0.03.

A AR BT A B TR S IR B AR A R A B T ER
R 50%LL L, BAAETFIME 2 —8), TR THIRLL S (3) It
[ e % BB AR ROL 4TS . (o) b — 44 P A B A 2 A B T Bl 4
TARM 0.05 76; (b) E—FPFEERRE A EMIK T B F T AR
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Performance snapshots

AV SRR

A-share listed companies may disclose performance snapshots prior to periodic
report announcements. In the event of any of the following circumstances, the
company shall promptly disclose performance snapshots (the following items
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shall apply to A-share Main Board listed companies, and only items (1) and (2)
shall apply to Sci-Tech Innovation Board and ChiNext listed companies):

A B BT 2w AT DA RE I A AT R SRR . BN AR
1, ~E N S R SRR (A I B BT AFREH U &5, B
QAR b A S AR E i ARSGER S (1D (2) TD:

(1) before disclosure of periodic reports, it has submitted undisclosed periodic
financial data to relevant authorities, which are not expected to be kept
confidential;

T 78 W 5 40 R U 1A A SRR IRIE AR A T 8 BAIA 55 Bt , - Tlit e
AR
(2) before the disclosure of periodic reports, performance data leaks have

occurred, or performance rumors have caused abnormal fluctuations in
the trading of its shares and derivatives thereon;

E E IR & 0 R T B St R, sl D gL [ S B w SR
FATA WA AZ 5 S W e s Y 5

(3) it plans to disclose its first quarter results, but has not yet disclosed its
annual report for the previous year.

IS — TR S, (H R AR S M R R

Under the circumstance described in item (3) of the preceding paragraph, a A-
share Main Board listed company shall disclose its performance snapshot of the
previous year no later than the release of relevant announcements of its first
quarter results.

HOLATEREE (3) BUEERY, A BEER BT 7 BRI T 5k
GUHR A & AT e B RN SRR

Annual reports
FE R

According to the A-share Listing Rules, A-share listed companies should
disclose their annual reports within four months after the end of each financial
year.

WRYE (A B ETRIND, A B B AR N SEFDS S THER SRS H
A R A A 7
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1.1.4 Semi-annual reports

P R
According to the A-share Listing Rules, A-share listed companies should

disclose their semi-annual reports within two months after the end of the first
half of each financial year.

WRAE (A B BRIy, A by 2w NSRS S THE R B SER
JE A A 5 R~ AR T

Quarterly reports
B R

According to the A-share Listing Rules, A-share listed companies should

disclose their quarterly reports within one month after the end of the first three
months and the end of the first nine months of each financial year, respectively.
Among them, the disclosure time of the quarterly report for the first quarter shall
not be earlier than the disclosure time of the annual report of the previous year.

WRAE (A B By, A B biias N AERE NS EEI =" /il
NAAERE D HAREFTERS . Hh, TR
I 1) AN T b R [ R A T 40 R I [

Consequences of failure to disclose periodic reports in time
A Reun BAPE 7% we B & 1 5 R

If an A-share listed company expects that it would be unable to disclose its

periodic reports within the prescribed period, it shall promptly make an
announcement on the reasons for the inability to make timely disclosure,
solution plans and the deadline for postponement of disclosure.

A BT S AN BEAE R JIPR Py 30 e AR 1, = R A A
REFE U1 R O SR K] AR TS 5 B S S04 i ) e i R

If an A-share listed company fails to disclose its annual report or semi-annual
report within the prescribed period, the A-share Exchange will suspend trading
in the company’s shares and derivatives thereon from the trading day following
the expiration of the relevant periodic report disclosure period. The suspension
period shall not exceed two months. If corrections are made in accordance with
regulations within this period, the company’s shares and derivatives thereon will
resume trading. If the aforementioned periodic report is not disclosed within
two months after the shares are suspended from trading, the A-share Exchange
will issue a delisting risk warning for the A-share listed company’s shares, and
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1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

the company’s shares and derivatives thereon will continue to be suspended
after the announcement of the delisting risk warning. Trading will resume after
one trading day.

A BT A FURAE R E IR WIS« PR EIRE 1, 325 ik
TR RE A R I BR Jm Jm A H . X% F BER R AT A A
Pt 15, A IR A B P H o 2R BEIIER ARSI (Y, A =]
RN AT AR R A B SR AR RUR PN H R 30 E iTA E W
T%%W%ﬁm&%iﬁAﬂﬁgimLﬁﬂ%=r,@ﬁﬂ%%&ﬁm
Az R E IR R IR T KU B s 2 TR AR R A5 R — A2 5 H R R

The Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange additionally stipulates that if a ChiNext listed company fails to
disclose a quarterly report within the prescribed period, the trading of the
company’s shares and derivatives thereon shall be suspended for one trading
day following the expiration of the prescribed period.

CRYINESRAZ 55 BT Bk RO 52 BBy Bish ki ae, Bk b i A &) ok
TERR 2 FARE N 3% 55 RS A 1, A W) I 5 S FLAT AR Al N 2 T R0 e A R
JEI IR — 22 &5 A — K,

Content requirements for financial information
Tt 5515 B A B ER
Performance forecasts content

AV G N

The content of the announcement shall include the amount or range of profit

and loss, the range of performance changes, the main causes for significant

changes in operating results, financial position, etc. If there are any uncertain

factors that may impact the accuracy of the performance forecast, the company
shall disclose the specific circumstances of the uncertain factors and their degree
of impact in the performance forecast.

NENBN Y UFERTSHEE XE ., WEHRRHTE, 28V SEE M
SRR A BB M E BT . A7 7E A E DR T BE R Ml S
THERAVER, 2w N AR ST A R AN E A AR B B AR R Ol S L5
Wi A2 5 o

Performance snapshots content

A SR A 2
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1.2.3

The performance snapshot should include the company’s operating income,

operating profit, total profit, net profit, net profit after deducting non-

recurring gains and losses, total assets, net assets, earnings per share, net

assets per share and return on net assets and other data and indicators for

the current period and the same period of the previous year.

PSP 2 B4 28 7] A3 e b BB ON  ENVRITE . U HE

A MERAESE RS JE RS RNE . B @B RO
AP BE A B i RS SR A TR AR -

Annual reports content

FIER T NE

The annual report should record the following content:

TSR B ICE L A A

(1) basic information of the company;
ACIE-¥. S /R

(2) key accounting data and financial indicators;

SRR A S5 4R bR

(3) the issuance and movements of the company’s shares and bonds, the

aggregate value of shares and bonds and the number of shareholders by
the end of the reporting period, and the shareholdings of the company’s
top ten shareholders;

NEIER S IR RAT KARSED, HREWIREEE . fiZr 88l AR
SH AFRT R AR R BAE O

(4) information of the shareholders holding more than 5% of the shares,
controlling shareholders and de facto controllers;

FRBES% A EIBIR S P B 2R B SRR N L5

(5) the appointments, shareholding movements and annual remunerations
statuses of directors, supervisors, and senior managers;

HE. WF SREHENGAEREN FFBARSENL . AR
(LR

(6) board of directors’ report;
EHE R
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(7) management discussion and analysis;
BV 50T
(8) material events occurred during the reporting period and their impact on
the company;
T TP E KA x4 =] RSN
(9) the full text of financial accounting reports and audit reports;
WA 2% 2 4l i A B THIR B 420
(10) other matters prescribed by the China Securities Regulatory Commission

1.2.4

(“CSRC”).
HEIES R EEE RS CPEIERS ME ) H A D,

Semi-annual reports content

PAEEIR T N

The semi-annual report should record the following content:

AR N HIC B L R N

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

()

basic information of the company;
ACIE ¥ N/

key accounting data and financial indicators;
FE BRI 5 A5

the issuance and movements of the company’s shares and bonds, the total
number of shareholders, and the shareholdings of the company’s top ten
shareholders, information of controlling shareholders and de facto
controllers;

AF R IR RAT KRG RAREE AR T KRR R
oL, IR B SR N R AR AR 1R L

management discussion and analysis;

EHER 50T

material events such as major lawsuits or arbitrations occurred during the

0

reporting period and their impact on the company;

ISP RURIR S e Ss B R O =] AR 5
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(6) financial accounting reports;

1.2.5

1.3

(7)

W55 it s s
other matters prescribed by CSRC.
i ] I M 2 R RE ) A ST

Quarterly reports content

R T NE

The quarterly report should disclose the following content:
TR NN 5 DA N2

(1)

2)

3)

(4)

major financial data, including major accounting data and financial
indicators, non-recurring profit and loss items and amounts, changes in
major accounting data and financial indicators and the reasons therefor;

FEW SR, O EES BRI SRR AR FE S T A
MG, T EE TR A 55 3R br 5 AL AR SIS DL LR A 5

shareholder information, including the total number of common
shareholders, the number of preferred shareholders with restored voting
rights and the shareholdings of the top ten shareholders, the total number

of preferred shareholders of the company and the shareholdings of the top
ten preferred shares shareholders (if any);

ARMER, O35 18 BBR B BO R R 5 0 S IR IR 2R B K
BT+ 2 ORI BE DL 2 F LS BB AR S B T 1044 e Se I B 2R 5
et il Cin s

other important information that will help investors understand the
operating conditions during the reporting period;

HAA B FHR5E 1S N 2B T 00 B 2
quarterly financial statements.

T 5K

Confirmation opinion of directors, supervisors and senior managers on

periodic reports

H IR M S AR R
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According to the A-share Listing Rules, directors, supervisors and senior
managers should sign written confirmation/written opinion on periodic reports.*
Among them, financial accounting reports and financial information in periodic
reports shall be submitted to the board of directors for deliberation upon
approval of a majority of all members of the audit committee; the board of
supervisors shall review the periodic report and state whether the preparation
and approval procedures of the periodic reports comply with the requirements
of laws, regulations and relevant provisions of the A-share Exchange, and
whether the content of the periodic report can truly, accurately and completely
reflect the actual situation of the company.

R (A i EmgiuD, #FH, WHEASLEEAR CERR”) M0
EWIR S E RIS W/ BEE . P, WS aitkd &g Bk
M SEEN AL H IR AS SRR AN RS, REEFS
B T D20 A i BEAT SR, O U B SR o A o A i OB
Fr R AT EVERIE I 28 5 TR R E O 2EoK, e IR i O A & 2 75 R
MRS, HER. OB RO A W] SRR Ol

If the directors, supervisors and senior managers cannot guarantee the
truthfulness, accuracy, completeness or have objection of the content of the

periodic report, they shall express their opinion and state the reasons in their
written confirmation opinion, which shall be disclosed by the company.

%$\%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂkﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%EiT\@%T
SEEVEECE A R, PSR T R LT A R S IR IR P
GV S

The directors, supervisors and senior managers shall not refuse to sign written
opinion on the periodic report for any reason.

HH, W ZUE BN ST DU e B b B 4 00 8 1l 75 253 i =
o

Among them, the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
and Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange additionally stipulate that directors, supervisors and senior
managers shall give their opinion in accordance with the provisions of the

! Among them, the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on the STAR Market of the SSE stipulates the
issuance of written opinions.

PHEAR (CRIRRIETR A S PR SRR BT RN B R A A
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preceding paragraph on the principle of prudence, and shall not be released of
right from their responsibilities to warrant the truthfulness, accuracy, and
completeness of the content of the periodic report only by giving their opinion.
The Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange also
additionally stipulate that when directors and senior managers issue written
confirmation opinion, they should explain whether the preparation and approval
procedures of the board of directors comply with laws, regulations, and relevant
provisions of the A-share Exchange. According to the requirements of relevant
provisions, whether the content of periodic reports can truly, accurately and
completely reflect the actual situation of the company. If directors or supervisors
are unable to guarantee the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness or have
objection of the content of the periodic report, in addition to expressing their
opinion in written confirmation as mentioned above, they should also cast a vote
of objection or abstention when the board of directors or board of supervisors
considers and reviews the periodic report. The Rules Governing the Listing of
Stocks on Shanghai Stock Exchange additionally stipulates that the reasons for
dissent given by directors, supervisors and senior managers should be clear,
specific, and relevant to the content disclosed in periodic reports.

Horf, (CEHRRIESF A 5 B2 BNy GARYINESR 22 55 A RS L iy LU
Lo CGARYINEZR 22 5 BBV ARUBE SR B BN &b le, . MM
VB BN AL BTN E A R L, N A AR RN, ARAIE E
et WARR S EFPE . TS BEMER DUEAMVN R AR 2 LT 24 2R 4 Bk
(ERIEZR A 5y Bl 52 B i R D) A CERDINIE SR AZ 5y P i 5 L v A 00 )

HANE, HF wPEEA RN RS R, N ESR
X B2 AN o WORE PP e AT SRR . SE 5 T G E I 5K, 5
AN B R GRS S HER . S A R SERR S L. HEH

e F IR ARAE E I R I S HERRYE . Se B EE A A U,

Br 7 ANAE B IAIAE WP RERE WAL, N A EE RO E
W A IR I SO SR B AR . ( EHRIETR A 5 ISR i
WY SERAMRE, FEH . WS BN 51U R I SRR i N B
HAR, 5 Wk 5 e o AT ARG .

If more than half of the company’s directors are unable to guarantee the
truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of the semi-annual report or annual
report disclosed by the company, and more than half of the directors are still
unable to guarantee such before the expiration of the statutory period for the
disclosure of the relevant periodic report, the A-share Exchange will suspend

11
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1.4

trading in the company’s shares and derivatives thereon on the trading day
following the expiration of the period for disclosure of the relevant periodic
reports, and subsequent matters will be implemented in accordance with the
relevant provisions.

) R b IR DR B B A AR s HERG . e
LR SRR I o5 90 8 (14095 R PR Jem it i 115 2 2 DA _E s SRR AR AR
A2 oy B+ AR 9% E SR T 1R IR et Je Ok — 2 B H, iz m R S
ATAE R SE RS R, 5 B3 B AL AT R E AT

Audit requirements for financial accounting reports
W5 RS B T ER

According to the A-share Listing Rules, financial accounting reports in annual
reports must be audited by an accounting firm. Financial accounting report in
semi-annual reports and the financial information in quarterly reports may not
be audited, but there are exceptions.

WRYE (A B LAy, FEHRE R 55 SRS N AL i 5 Py
B TFo AR TP 55 S TR AN R A W 55 BRI PR 2
B, (HAEAEGI ST

Among them, the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
and Rules Governing the Listing of Shares on the ChiNext Market of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange stipulate that financial accounting reports in semi-annual
reports may be exempt from auditing unless any of the following circumstances
applies: (1) the company plans to distribute stock dividends, convert provident
fund reserve to increase share capital, or use the reserve to offset its losses based
on semi-annual financial data; (2) other circumstances where the CSRC or the
A-share Exchange deems that an audit should be conducted. The financial
information in quarterly reports does not require auditing, unless otherwise
specified by the CSRC or the A-share Exchange. The Rules Governing the
Listing of Stocks on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange stipulates that financial accounting reports in semi-annual reports and
quarterly reports do not need to be audited, but shall be audited if the company
plans to distribute stock dividends or convert provident fund reserve to increase
share capital; if there is only a distribution of cash dividends, auditing may be
exempted.

12
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Hor, (CRIRFIETR A 5 B R B ) CERIINIESR 22 &) B i 5= T SR )
Lo CGARYINESR 22 5 B GV AR B S B MR g, S8R ER 5 R (0 55
R E AT UASLE T, B TR 0, MAgddEit: (1) il
WA~ P 55 Ul IR R I SR I < R AT 22 B e e 1 RO AS B b 7 45
(2) AR M2 B 58 5 BN L 2 HEAT o o AR T . it o
R 55 BORLEAU# T, (AR IR 2 B 52 5 B 3 A e IR Ah . (R
UEZRA 5 BT RO B 52 B MY e, e iy . ZR A Y
Sl AT ARG T, B St i B DA AR 22 RR A 18 IR A ) L
Ml AEIE R, AR T
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Hong Kong

T

1.1

Regular disclosure of financial information

Wt %15 BRI 2 SR R

Pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Listing Rules”), companies
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) (“Hong Kong listed companies”) are
required to issue periodic financial information every year, including interim
results announcements, interim reports, annual results announcements and
annual reports.

WRyE (FBBEKEZHITARAFHESE L) CFBHEHHRN ", 1
RS MARAR CEBBRZR IR ETRAR CEBEW
AT BEIERAMSE R, ORFETRNSI A S FHRE . FRE
WG PR R A

Timing of the release of financial information
Wt 5545 B AT B PR

Interim results announcements and interim reports
H b S 20 i S R

Rule 13.49(6) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules stipulates that unless the relevant

financial year is of six months or less, the relevant results announcement of a
Hong Kong listed company for the first six months of each financial year must
be published within two months after the end of that six-month period.

EELETTHIEE 13.49 (6) sFME, BRAFA RS HERAIIZSA H B
T, BEE EH A A EE ST E N A LS, BAHEIZANA
SR 505 P A H A RIS A R ST o

If a Hong Kong listed company fails to make an interim results announcement
as stipulated, it must issue an announcement within two months after the end of
the six-month period, providing a full explanation for its inability to make an
announcement based on unaudited financial statements and the expected date of
announcement of the unaudited results for the first half of the financial year.

14
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A BT m AR ge L IR E /R A g A . IZRAE 1254 H TR
iR IS AR A, PR R HOR RERYE R & TH I 55 IR &
HAEREE, KB AGA RS R ERFERREH TSN H .

In addition, Rule 13.48(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules requires a Hong
Kong listed company to send an interim report (or a summary interim report?)
to each of its shareholders and each of the holders of its listed securities in
respect of the first six months of each financial year unless the relevant financial
year is of six months or less, which must be sent within three months after the
end of that six-month period.

AN, A ETTREE 13.48 (1) %M€, BRIAEE RSTHER IR
HECAR, BN E AR AU A 2T R E S H Rk Bk
F (BRI SR D GHELIRARLH ETEFENELEEA N, K
KIS R 2R 1% S A H BRI S R 5 B =N H N .

1.1.2  Annual results announcements and annual reports
SEFENGUA TS MR

Rule 13.49(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules stipulates that Hong Kong listed
companies must publish relevant results announcements within three months

after the end of the relevant financial year regarding their preliminary results for
each financial year.

FWH LT 13.49 (1) &ME, &t ETAFMENSHERERY]
NG, UAEAR RETHER SR G =AW TS A S .

If a Hong Kong listed company fails to announce preliminary results as
stipulated, it must issue an announcement within three months after the end of
the relevant financial year, providing a full explanation for its inability to make
an announcement based on preliminary results in accordance with the relevant
provisions, the expected date of announcement of the financial results for the
financial year which shall have been agreed with the auditors, and results for
the relevant financial year based on the financial results that have not yet been
agreed with the auditors.

2 A Hong Kong listed company may send a summary interim report to its shareholders and holders of
listed securities in lieu of an interim report, provided that the summary interim report complies with the
relevant provisions of the Companies (Summary Financial Reports) Regulation (Cap. 622E of the laws
of Hong Kong) governing summary financial reports.

IR ER AT S (AR (M S ERE) MEI) (FBIEBISE 6228 &) 470 554 Bk
MIZESC, Ak T A m) ) [ HOBOR B BT IR R NI rh 0 B s, DU A .

15



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHS N SS: FHEUEF S P BT AR T Han Kun Law Offices

it bl A m WK REAL IR UE AT DL S, WA R & TR 4
JE=ANHNEBAS, FERBERRRELA R E A A2 LS R A,
FFEIVB U A AT R 2 R A SR AOM )€ R R 55 Mk S H A,
LR 1 AR 5 A% T B € [R] i W 55 b i $2 (AT S- = TR L IRk B

In addition, according to Rule 13.46 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, a Hong
Kong listed company must send its annual report (or summary financial report®),
including annual accounts and the auditor’s report on such accounts, to each of
its shareholders and each holder of its listed securities. The above documents
must be sent to the above-mentioned persons at least 21 days before the annual
general meeting of the Hong Kong listed company and within four months after
the end of the relevant financial period.

Ak, ARAE A BT RINEE 13.46 26308, AHs Bl A i m HAg 4 R
LS BRI R A R A NS A s (B S MERE >, W
ERENK H Mot iz A5 K B AR AR BT R . BRSO T A BT A
A AR R HITH IR 21 RAT, A R B 45 A4S H ik
b N

Consequences of failure to publish financial information in time

R BE QR R 55 BRI JE 2R
According to Rule 13.50 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, if a Hong Kong listed

company fails to publish periodic financial information in time in accordance
with the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange has the right
to require the trading of the Hong Kong listed company’s securities to be
suspended until the company publishes an announcement containing the
requisite financial information.

MR A LTS 13.50 2%, An AR s Bl 2w R ARSI A _E T )
FRIRIE B A R 8 I 55 Bk, & RIS T A BB SR AZ & s LT 8 7
FIIESRIF R, BEREHRR 7o 2 A e f 55 5N Ik

3 Hong Kong listed companies may submit summary financial reports to their shareholders and holders
of listed securities in lieu of annual reports and accounts, but must comply with no less stringent
requirements than Sections 437 to 446 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) and the relevant provisions contained in the Companies (Summary Financial Reports) Regulation
(Cap. 622E of the laws of Hong Kong) (applicable to Hong Kong listed companies incorporated in
Hong Kong).

3 A T o w AT T AR S BRI NS S M AR, DARER A R K E . (H
DLATFETARTEEAT T (CATIZG) (FBIEFIS 622 %) 5 437 & 446 KL (aF] (Y
FSAMEARTE) BB CEHIEEIEE 622E F) GEM T AFHIEM ML &R LT AR Prix
FOCHIIE -
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1.2 Financial statement content requirements

T FRRABFER

Each of the above four categories of financial information disclosure is required
to contain the content specified in “Disclosure of Financial Information” as set
out in Appendix D2 (“Appendix D2”) to the Hong Kong Listing Rules to reflect
the state of affairs of a Hong Kong listed company as well as its operating results
and cash flows.

IR PUSEIA 5515 B9k 5 30 75 B AL & A LT U PR % D2 “ 0 5% BRI %
=7 C B D27 ) FREMNE, VURBLEE A A S SR
HE W & e .

1.2.1 Financial statement requirements
0 28 Hr 2% 0 e

First, according to paragraph 2 of Appendix D2, the annual financial statements

of'a Hong Kong listed company must comply with:
o, MRIEHTS D2 58 2 By, Fis B AR E R SR &5
(1) Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
(P S5 41 5 T DU )
(2) International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); or
CEEI Pt 5541 35 v ) ;- 5%

(3) China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (applicable to
issuers registered in China that adopt the China Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises to prepare their annual financial statements).

Crp Al T AEY GEM TR O B Al 2 T HE D G i)
T S5 IR A R AT O

Unless there are reasonable grounds, Hong Kong listed companies must
continue to adopt one of the standards (1) to (3) above and cannot change them
at will. Hong Kong listed companies must disclose all reasons for any such
changes in their annual financial statements.*

4 If a Hong Kong-listed company is an overseas company, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange may allow it
to not prepare annual financial statements in accordance with the above-mentioned financial reporting
standards. Such companies can refer to the relevant provisions of Rules 19.25A and 19C.23 of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules.
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1.2.2

FRAEA S EE G, SUEE LT AR LIEFERH Bk (1) 2 3) 1
Hrp—Z#E N, AR E k. WHSE), &k B w0 T
FARF T A ¢

Basic disclosures

S T WA

In addition, paragraph 4 of Appendix D2 requires that each financial statement

presented in an annual report, listing document or circular must include

disclosures required by the relevant accounting standards adopted and the
following basic information:

BEAh, s D2 55 4 BOWE SRR« T SO BGE R A T SR A R A3 T
S5 AR AEARYE P R 4N A 2C 2 T U RH E FRI90 i S B A AR B8

(1) statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (including
profit (or loss) on sale of properties);

o S AR SR A R CRAE SV &R (B 4));

(2) statement of financial position (including ageing analysis of accounts
receivable and accounts payable);

WS ARDEAE (LAl LSRR I 1 73 A B AR T35 PR K 8 7347 )5

(3) dividends (details of dividends per share paid or proposed to be paid and
amounts absorbed thereby for each class of shares); and

WS, B 8 DR Ao SRBL A< 45 G e 5%, DR i A L
WHITER D K

(4) in the accounting policies section, statement of which set of accounting
standards have been followed in preparing the financial statements. A
Hong Kong listed company should provide a statement by the directors

explaining the reasons for any significant departure in the accounts from
any part of this set of accounting standards (if applicable).

FETFBORE N, UL G il W 55 0 R PITA 12 TR 8 2 THHE U
i b AR ARGt TR W], EREKE PSR ES
THAE N AR T 0 A R B A B CAni& D

ORI LA FRIEAN A E], BB TR RE 2 VLT AR AR L 0 55T i DU G 1) 4
JEW 54k, MRAF AT LLZH A BT IS 19.25A K& 19C.23 25 HIAHISHE «
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1.2.3 Other key disclosure requirements
oAt = P R R

In addition to financial statements, Appendix D2 requires a Hong Kong listed

company to disclose the following financial information in results
announcements and reports. Please note that this paragraph only lists the main
disclosure requirements. For complete content requirements, please refer to
Appendix D2.

BRI S5 R AN, Bt D2 FE i b 2 w] ZAE NV SB35 Bl i N 438 LA
TMSER. WERE, AU EEAPER IR, S BRI A AE
VEILBR =% D2,

(1) details of any purchase, sale or redemption of its listed securities by the

Hong Kong listed company or any of its subsidiaries during the relevant
period, or an appropriate negative statement;

At B m) BCHAE TR IR 2w ST TR) Y A el A
Wz B b RS AV, BAEIE 2 15 5 A

(2) acommentary including the following:
iR, EFELLH &I

(a) a fair review of the business development during the financial
period/year and the financial position at the end of the period/year
of the Hong Kong listed company and its subsidiaries;

O PRI A BT R B o R 2 v S 1R/ R Y AL
G5 R, LA AR ST IR /47 P 45 R IV 55 R DL 5

(b) details of events occurring since the end of the financial period/year
that have a significant impact on the Hong Kong listed company and
its subsidiaries; and

H 2 T I TR) /4 B 45 R i e AR RS i Bl 2 m) R LB s 2 7
A ERAEHE TR AL

(c) the likely future developments of the business of the Hong Kong
listed company and its subsidiaries (in the case of interim results,
the Hong Kong listed company’s outlook for the financial year must
be included);

A LA E) R R A mk S H R AT R A g (s e
g, SRS LT ARzt EE R,
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(3) explain whether the Hong Kong listed company has complied with the
code provisions set out in Part 2 (Principles of good corporate governance,
code provisions and recommended best practices) of the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Hong Kong Listing Rules;

R R i EVASST R SECD A i i o WU N O B o A= TS R D
ER Y CREFAEIR BRI SIS SO B BUR R D s
3 ) 2% 3C

(4) indicate whether the audit committee of the Hong Kong listed company
has reviewed the interim and annual results and interim reports®;

VTS BT A Fl I S A% &R R 22 75 D D AR B SR
R

(5) full details of any disagreements the auditor or audit committee has with
respect to the accounting practices adopted by Hong Kong listed
companies; and

AT H & 20 & Bl A w R & T TR A
AFERBTER 2 &
(6) if the net income stated in the financial statements is materially different

from the profit forecast published by the Hong Kong listed company, the
Hong Kong listed company should explain the reasons for the difference.

AN 55 F R T R N 5 B s BT 3w 8RR B BN A K
Z5, Al BTN E R SR A o
1.3 Summary

$S¥e

This article outlines the key financial disclosure requirements under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules. Hong Kong listed companies must refer to the complete
disclosure requirements of Chapter 13 of and Appendix D2 to the Hong Kong
Listing Rules when preparing financial statements, results announcements and
financial reports.

5 For interim results, such may be reviewed by external auditors or the audit committee of the Hong Kong
listed company.

N AT PN 3 % U RS N o s AR 2 AR R N2
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ASCHEIR 1 A BTN Y 2 B 5545 SR 2K . B BT A AR
W51 M GA W S5t Iy, A5 25 & B A =
St D2 58 B F EOR
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United States

e

1. Regular disclosure of financial information

Wt %15 BRI 2 SR R

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“US Securities

Exchange Act”) and related laws, regulations and stock exchange rules of the

United States of America (“US” or “United States’’), companies listed on the

New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”)
are required to file periodic reports with the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to disclose financial information every year,

including annual reports, quarterly reports (exempted for foreign private

issuers), semi-annual reports, etc.

MRHEEE 1934 FUEFRAE 515D (Securities Exchange Act of 1934, “¢EH
UESFAE GEN ) MR FNEI RS2 2 Frfi U], 75 38 B A LIUE 5758 5
Fr (New York Stock Exchange, “@AAAFr” ) Flgh ik 7 ik 75 %8 5 fr
(Nasdaq Stock Market, “ZNETETE” O _LTH A TR0 R L EIEFHRAL
%75 %> (United States Securities and Exchange Commission, “SEC” )
P58 Mk & (Periodical Reports) iz W 555 82, W ERRE . F
EAkE OMEFNEAT NER D FEE RS,

1.1 Release of financial information
W 5515 B B R AR

1.1.1 Definition of foreign private issuer
HRE AN AT NI E X

Generally, a Chinese (operating) company listed on the NYSE or Nasdaq can

qualify as a foreign private issuer defined under the US Securities Exchange Act
(“China-Based US-Listed Company”), and thus can benefit from rules
relating to foreign private issuers. This Section is based on such premises and
introduces specifically the US securities laws and regulations applicable to
China-Based US-Listed Companies.

—MN S, EREALH A L E GeE) A6
EWAF) AT & GEEUEZFAZZE) FUE A EFR N AT NI SE 3
PR s A e e b T 2 ) B T RGP A B AL RAT N BTSRRI . AR SORE
HPAZAER, B gd AT P b A = S ERIE SR AN o
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According to the US Securities Exchange Act, a foreign private issuer means
any foreign nongovernmental issuer incorporated or organized under the laws
of any jurisdiction other than the US, but an issuer will not constitute a foreign
private issuer if it meets both of the following conditions:

I CEENEZFAHIE), AMERNKAT NFERHE 3% B LLAN 2 w955 X Y

AR O AT A EAEBUR AL B AT N, BRI 2 DL 26 AR Y

RAT NAKE A RN AT N -

(1) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities are held of record,
directly or indirectly, by US residents; and

50% PA_E E A SRS IE 2 B B R e s IR H
(2) it falls under any of the following circumstances:
i 2 UL ME— 261

(a) a majority of its executive officers or directors are US citizens or
residents;

HRZH P E N REE Sy E A RS R:
(b) more than 50% of its assets are located in the US; or
H 50% A BRI B AL TS BTN R
(c) 1its businesses are administered principally in the US
2 AR S [ AR ML 55 HEAT A B

Listed foreign private issuers filing with the SEC must reassess their status as a
foreign private issuer as of the last business day of its second fiscal quarter each
year. If a China-Based US-Listed Company determines that as of the last
business day of its most recent second fiscal quarter it no longer qualifies as a
foreign private issuer, such Company and its executive officers, directors and/or
major shareholders will be subject to additional disclosure requirements starting
from the next fiscal year, including but not limited to the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the United States Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (“US GAAP”) or the provision of financial statements reconciled to
US GAAP, the disclosure of quarterly reports, the shortening of annual report
disclosure deadlines.

A SEC Hk i) i s EA N AT N AHEREF 28 N 1 i
N IAE HEH PP AR N SME RN RAT AR Sy o W R B A
F A UL 0 5 AN BCER R B a — A AR B e A B A4 E AR
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RAT AN TR, Wz B AR L s BE RN R RN/
JBZRAE T — U B 2 T AR I 75 B8 Sy A RS B 2ok, A FmiR 4
S @ 11N (United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,
“US GAAP”) & 55 AR B FE RS US GAAP #2014 1 9540 4%
PR T AR A AR T 1 e TR i e 55

1.1.2 Quarterly Reports and Form 6-K
IR N 6-K KAk

Foreign private issuers are not legally required to regularly disclose quarterly

reports to the SEC. However, if a China-Based US-Listed Company, as a foreign
private issuer, voluntarily chooses to disclose quarterly financial information
like most domestic US-listed companies, it should file with the SEC its quarterly
earnings release on Form 6-K promptly after the issuance of its quarterly
earnings release to the public.

HNEFAN RAT NBEGTEE X551 SEC E M BREERERE . 4R, s
NEE BT A RERASNE RN RAT N B B E B R 2 HEE E A+ E A A
— R R LR, WA LB R A R A AR AR Ja B I BL 6-K Rk
1B R SEC R %552 i o

1.1.3 Semi-Annual Reports and Form 6-K
PR R X 6-K KAk

In addition, China-Based US-Listed Companies must comply with the

disclosure requirements of financial reports required for the NYSE and Nasdaq
respectively and file semi-annual reports via Form 6-K within 6 months after
the end of the second fiscal quarter of each year.

SR 5SS S L O 4 LS S 2
SHEWHETR, ERES S MEERSREAN AN, B 6K R
AR

1.1.4 Annual Reports and Form 20-F
SEJEHRE K 20-F FA%

A China-Based US-Listed Company, as a foreign private issuer, must file annual

reports pursuant to the requirements of Form 20-F with the SEC within 4 months
of the end of each financial year. Form 20-F contains detailed and
comprehensive financial and non-financial information disclosure requirements.
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HRRERR b A FIE RANE RN RAT N, 0 A A 0 A B 45 R 5 1 Y
A H WA 20-F A& 1 E SR 1] SEC HRTEERE . 20-F TS FEAT
AETHI WV 4545 BRI 4515 B P e oKk .

According to the respective exchange rules of the NYSE and Nasdaq, a China-
Based US-Listed Company, as a foreign private issuer, shall take the following
actions after filing its annual report via Form 20-F:

MR A3 T AN TR 50 2% B 28 2 B i e - ki b iy 22 =4 9 ob
[ AN RAT NAESEAL 20-F RAK I EER 1 Ja B = R B A A7 3) -

(1) Issue apress release promptly after the filing, stating that the annual report
has been filed with the SEC, identifying the company’s website, and
stating that the shareholders can request a free copy of the company’s
complete audited financial statements or annual report;

FESEAL Ja B KA e 1 B > 7] 42 [7) SEC $RAT AR i, 1%5%
RG2S B o w0, i BB 2R AT A G B R B w22 T 58
BN 55 0 A B JEE A o ) 2R A5

(2) Add a prominent commitment to the company’s website that the company
will provide free copies of its complete audited financial statements or
annual report to shareholders upon request.

FEA m Wl X — AN H ke, R CEIRARER, AR
B R Ao e BRI o U (1 5 B IV 55 R B R AR T R AR AR
In addition, NYSE listed companies are required to submit the Foreign Private

Issuer Section 303A Annual Written Affirmation to the NYSE within 30 days
after filing their annual reports.

Ak, AAZFr B A RERASEE R G 30 H W Rl A8 Frig 52 40
FANRAT NAERE Section 303A FH AN

Consequences of failure to timely disclose financial information
O BE A0 314 i W 954 JEL )i 2R
Failure of a China-Based US-Listed Company to file legally required periodic

reports in time may result in a series of adverse consequences, such as the
inability to use Form F-3, the inability to conduct facilitated additional ofterings
as a WKSI (Well-Known Seasoned Issuer), the inability of its shareholders to
conduct a facilitated sales of stocks under Rule 144, etc.
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HORE R b T B G0 SRR R 4 AR S VA BRI s AR S, P RRIG S E—
RANAF G R, BTk gl F-3 £8. LIEERNNL B EKITA
(Well-Known Seasoned Issuer) JF R FI38 & . B A FrA N TCiEF
FH 144 R0 {5 0] H A i 2225

According to the NYSE rules, if a China-Based US-Listed Company (as a
foreign private issuer) fails to file its annual report or semi-annual report in time
(“Filing Delinquency”), the NYSE will immediately issue a written notification
to the company (“Filing Delinquency Notification”). Within 5 days after the
date of the Filing Delinquency Notification, the company will be required to:

RIS BRI, b e B A =] (FEORANER N AT N R AEF2 Y]

RAEFLARAG MPE RS BRI, AR LRI A F K

T A AR ERRERT ). R BAEER TN, ZA

AR ER -

(1) contact the NYSE to discuss the status of the delinquent report;
HAERTEC R, WS @ AR PR

(2) issue a press release disclosing the occurrence of the Filing Delinquency,
the reason for the Filing Delinquency, and the anticipated date (if known,
as the case may be) by which the Filing Delinquency will be cured via
filing or refiling of the applicable report. If the company does not issue
the aforementioned press release within 5 days of the date of the Filing
Delinquency Notification, the NYSE will issue a press release stating that
a Filing Delinquency has occurred for the company and providing a
description thereof.

RATH IR, PR A R AR O G E AR R SR A DL E
T A B T PR AT I FH A T LA IR E S B AR R U H ) (2
R, ALTEOUTORE Do U SR 2N W] LE UL 21 36 ) AR 4 0 5 1 0 R Kk
AT R TR T ARG, DR S iR A AT T A U B 2w A AR T

For a period of 6 months from the date of the Filing Delinquency (the
“Initial Cure Period”), the NYSE will monitor the company and the
status of the delinquent report and subsequent reports and will contact the
company until the Filing Delinquency is cured. If the company fails to
cure the Filing Delinquency within the Initial Cure Period, the NYSE may,
at its sole discretion, allow up to additional 6 months for the company’s
securities to be traded and the Filing Delinquency to be cured (the
“Additional Cure Period”), depending on the specific circumstances of
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the company. If the NYSE determines that it is inappropriate to provide
the company with the Additional Cure Period, it may commence
suspension and delisting procedures immediately. If a company fails to
file the delinquent report and all subsequent reports by the end of such
Additional Cure Period, the NYSE will commence suspension and
delisting procedures immediately. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
NYSE may take into account the overall circumstances and different
factors and decide at its sole discretion to commence suspension and
delisting procedures at any time from the date of Filing Delinquency. That
is, it may not grant the company an Initial Cure Period or an Additional
Cure Period, or it may early cease the Initial Cure Period or Additional
Cure Period and commence suspension and delisting procedures
immediately.

MBI R 2 I CHIIEAB ™) W, A i A
m) DASE Y F AR R 22 AR RO, IR S A ml IR, BRI
RAFRNA| L. ARAZ A TR REERIUR AN RO N 2 IR AR, AT
PR YE % 7 (W BAR S DL, B AT € SUVFZ A R IETRE R 2N
AN BRI 1] 3 2k 82 HEAT 28 55 7 2K S kb Bodn 3 Ak 5 % (“BahAb
BOR 7 WA PN ANE B A A w SR B MNRON, A BLRN
THGIEAER TR o 45 2> 7 R RELE1Z A MBI 45 ACHT $2 5 10
HAR AT A i SEF AR, AR LRI iR AR 2 R . REH
HIIRRGE , A PTG 2 T A R Ea 5 HIr, B AT DRE AR Y]
ez HJE BRI R F a4 AT ER A4 Ry, BN T BRI T 2
A AR AT 40 4D RO BT S A BT B 5 AT 45 LE AT 46 4 BOW BT/ b R
1, FFSLEITFARE AR AR -

Similarly, under the Nasdaq rules, if a foreign private issuer fails to file an

»

annual report or semi-annual report with the SEC in time, the company
will receive a notice from the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department
stating its deficiency (a “Deficiency Notification”). Upon receiving a
Deficiency Notification, in addition to filing with the SEC, the company
is also required to make a press release to disclose its receipt of the
Deficiency Notification and the reasons for the violation. Within 60 days
of the Deficiency Notification (the “Compliance Period”), the company
may submit to the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department a plan to
regain compliance which shall state the reasons for the Filing Delinquency,
the likelihood that the filing will be made within the Compliance Period,
etc. If there is a good cause (and the staff may request additional
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information from the company if necessary), the Nasdaq staff may extend
the foregoing Compliance Period to up to another 15 days, for a total
period of up to 180 days from the due date of the first filing deficiency of
a periodic report (the “Additional Compliance Period”). If the company
does not complete a filing to regain compliance within the Compliance
Period or Additional Compliance Period, the company will receive a
Delisting Determination Letter (“Delisting Letter”) from Nasdaq, stating
that unless the company requests a hearing, it will be delisted on a specific
date. To avoid the delisting, the company may request a hearing with
Nasdaq within 7 days of receiving such Delisting Letter. The Nasdaq
Hearings Panel has the authority to grant extensions of up to 180 days, but
in no event shall the company have more than 360 days from the date of
the first filing deficiency of a periodic report (the “Maximum
Compliance Period”) to file a late report and regain compliance. If the
company fails to complete its filing to regain compliance within the
Maximum Compliance Period, or if the Hearings Panel decides not to
grant the company an extension of the period, the Company will be
suspended and delisted from Nasdaq.

FARZI, ARIEANETIETE RN, AR AN E FANKAT AR REFZ I SEC
PRAZEE LA AR R, R il RN s e b iy A% A 1l W] Head
FERIER BB AREEMERE, AFERF SEC
B, 3T VAR AT W T A ) 7 22 T AT i L R ) 1 0 R 3 A i
o AFTTECOHN “HRBIRR ") 1A 40k 5o L7 SRS S5 52 Tk
HEMPEERER, SR U B R ] RS R R A
HAR AT RETESE . I A CH AL ZEN TAE N R EER A A 2
FAh e fE ), TAE AN ATLUR AR SRR E K 2 2 AT 15 H,
TR 5 S IR e AN B i e 28 e i i 22 kS 180 H
B BARR 7). 0 IR 7 A 5 U IR B A & AUYIRR N
SECR IR R RS, 2 FLR B9 A 52 TAR N B3 038 i R
CIBVTER D, WA EAREE, WA FHR T A Bk
LR . Dy iB ., W] T LRI )12 AR T IE R A B H NS
WrilE s Wrilb N BAE H i AN 180 HAURENI e, (HAEAEf
THOLT, 2Rl ACHE ) R RO R 22 & LIRS B IR # A e L B
B UCEIIRAS E iR 2 HiEE 360 H (“BRACEIBIR 7. A F K
AP BR P A 5 IR A WUIRZS 10, BTk /N2 g s AN
NEFERIIRE, 2 mR N ik s s AR 117

28



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHBEN S5 FEIEARZ S T BT A= FH Han Kun Law Offices
1.2 Release of financial information

1.2.1

1.2.2

W %15 BRI R AR

Financial statement requirements
0 S5 R )RR E

The financial statements disclosed in annual reports filed in the form of Form

20-F by a China-Based US-Listed Company are subject to audit and must be
signed and certified by the company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”) and
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and must be approved by a simple majority
of its board of directors.

ORI LT AR EL 20-F &AM TE AR A I AE LA i PIT 4 e O M 55 4 R TR 42
#Hit, HUAHARREFEHATE (Chief Executive Officer, “CEOQ” )
ME G % E (Chief Financial Officer, “CFO” ) 2 NiE, JFAitH=E
FHoanlFHutiEE

Other quarterly or semi-annual financial information filed in the form of Form

6-K by China-Based US-Listed Companies is not required to be audited, or
signed or certified by the company’s CEO and CFO.

RIS BT AT L 6-K RIS T AR A I HoAth = i 5l & P 4F W 4515 B
w1, AT HA AR CEO & CFO & NIk,

Basic disclosures
FEAYY Fr N A

The goal of requiring a foreign private issuer to file Form 20-F is to standardize

the reporting requirements for foreign private issuers so that investors can
evaluate investments in foreign companies alongside the stocks of US domestic
companies. Accordingly, the disclosure content on Form 20-F is very similar to
the content required for US domestic issuers, such as reporting key operational
details, market risks, corporate governance and financial statements, including
the following specific content and requirements of annual financial statements:

FORANE AN FAT NHR 20-F KA H A2 SMETA N AAT N AR 5 2
SRARUENL,  DAE B BT BENS 7L VAl 5 A b Al B 52 A [R] I PP A X T 4
H AR T B, 20-F A% 13 A S50 R E A £ 54T NESR I
W NAFARFE AL, ORI R E M. Xk, AFNAE
AN S5 AR S, FE PR B S5 AR 1 B AR A AN R B4

(1) financial statements shall be provided for the same fiscal year;
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(2)

&)

Nz 472 T A 7] PR IV S P PR A 55 41

the content and information disclosed in the financial statements shall be
substantially similar to financial statements that comply with US GAAP
and SEC Regulation S-X (“Regulation S-X");

W5 R R S BN AN S5/ G US GAAP FIEEIESFAE 5% 5
4 S-X 4 (SEC Regulation S-X, “S-X 28" 554k 52)i I
FEABL

financial statements and schedules may be prepared in accordance with
US GAAP, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) or local
generally accepted accounting principles. If the financial statements adopt
IFRS, a clear and unqualified statement on the compliance with IFRS
must be included in the notes to the financial statements, and the audit
report must express an opinion that the financial statements comply with
IFRS. If the financial statements and schedules are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles other than US GAAP or
IFRS, the applicable accounting principle must be disclosed in the
accountant’s report or financial statements which shall illustrate the
material differences between such accounting principle and US GAAP
and Regulation S-X.

W 55 4R 3K A0 R T LUAR 4 US GAAP. [ Br U 45 41 &5 v )
(International Financial Reporting Standards, “IFRS” ) B4
I THAEN G o an RV S5 4R R FH ) 72 TFRS, W 554 36 ()7 k%
IR RIS T 18 TFRS IR BAER B Ui, B v
AR RAZE M SR FE ST TFRS BRI R0 554 R A 3R
eI R US GAAP B TFRS AAMH At 22 A 2 THHE N it £, D004
IAE 22t T 2 B0 554 36 T 4 o O HE DL, JF B2 ig e
US GAAP Al S-X 2Bl I B K7 5+

China-Based US-Listed Companies listed on the NYSE and Nasdagq, as foreign
private issuers, shall disclose their semi-annual financial information on Form

6-K, which shall contain specific content including an interim balance sheet as

of the end of the second fiscal quarter, as well as a semi-annual income

statement covering the first two fiscal quarters. Such unaudited financial

information is not required to be reconciled to US GAAP.

FEAAZ AN ik v B B b A JIAE DR ANE AL NRAT ARLAE 6-
K REPPELAFFEREMSEL, BANEREERER —MBEER M
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1.2.3

IR AR, DLAGR S LT N R R . 25
ZLHEITIM 55 BTG 5 US GAAP #EATHZ 5T .

Other key disclosure requirements
oA B R R

In addition to financial statements, annual reports that a China-Based US-Listed

Company is required to file in the form of Form 20-F are required to disclose
the following key information:

BRIV 954, TRk BT A FIZEL 20-F & 571 5 52 B 4F BE AR i ik
i i DL EEAF R
(1) adescription of the issuer’s business;
KAT NHDY 55 $i34
(2) selected financial information;
eS8 IV 5515 /2.
(3) discussion of significant risk factors;
KRR R 2R B3 18
(4) asummary of material legal proceedings;
HRER R B

(5) management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations (“MD&A”); and

BRI SR AN E AR e A HT (“MD&A™); DL

(6) information about the issuer’s directors, senior officers and employees,
including certain disclosures regarding its senior officers’ compensation
and share ownership.

ARKATNER, MPEHENERNELS, Sl RagEHEA
S AN A7 P A P 2R 5 45 %

Notably, the MD&A is a narrative explanation of the company’s financial
statements and accompanying notes, and the senior officers use the MD&A to
inform investors of their views on the company’s financial performance and
condition and to provide investors with information not shown in the financial
statements, as well as trends and risks that have contributed to the company’s
current state of affairs or that could reasonably affect the company’s future
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performance. As a result, the SEC generally strictly scrutinizes the disclosures
in the MD&A section.

ERERRZ, BT MD&A JEX 2 7 W 55 1l 20 it B A A0 12 e
HAEHZEEL MD&A 7% 5t Hoxh A w7 W 55 b SRR LB %, IF1A
BB H R S5 R AR BRI B A S B 7 IR 8T 5E & B
AFIARFN G A TR, Fik SEC X T8 7 (14 i — M350k 34T
RS A

1.3 Summary

pS¥a]

This Section provides an overview of the key disclosure requirements of
financial information under the US Securities Exchange Act and the NYSE and
Nasdaq listing rules. As a foreign private issuer, a China-Based US-Listed
Company must refer to the disclosure requirements of Form 20-F and the
relevant SEC rules when preparing financial information.

AR T CREREFRAZ Hik) AP AN A o b iy M0 A 2 0 55
BRI EOR . TP L 2 R DR AN B AL N R AT NAE G R 5515 2
55 Wb 27 20-F LA A I SEC MU 3 #a 20K
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Singapore

IR

1.1

Regular disclosure of financial information

%15 B R B HADE R
Mainboard

FEK

According to the SGX Rulebooks - Mainboard Rules (“SGX Main Board
Rules”), companies listed on the Main Board of Singapore Exchange (“SGX
Main Board listed companies™) are required to regularly publish financial
information every year, including annual reports and interim reports (quarterly
or semi-annually, as the case may be).

WRAE GBI AE 2 B T 0 ——E Ay EARGRI 7D, Hrin i 3=
W Em AR CERETAR) BEIEMEAMSER, OIHEERLR
T R CGREECEE R, MROLTTE ).

Timing of the release of financial information

W 2515 BB AT A PR
(1) Annual reports
R

Rule 705(1) of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that a Main Board
listed company must announce financial statements for the entire financial
year immediately after the relevant figures are available, and the
announcement time shall not be later than 60 days after the relevant
financial period. In addition, according to Rule 707, a SGX Main Board
listed company must also hold an annual general meeting within four
months after the end of their financial year and send an annual report to
their shareholders and Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“Exchange”, or “SGX”) at least 14 days before the date of the annual
general meeting.

ERHMEE 705 (1) ZFHE, TR T AR B BHER KRBT A6
SERI o BN SR FE W S5 4R, o o IR TR AN AR A SR 55 30
A5 60 Ko tEAh, MRIEEE 707 5%, bR b 2wl s e e 55 48
FEL ARG 4 M AN ATFFEER AR =, FFEAT 14 K2R K
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)

BOETFAZ H A IR A ®] GErag i, faifK Exchange B¢ SGX) KIA4FE
AR o

Interim reports

SR ke

For interim reports, Singapore Exchange Regulation Pte. Ltd. (“SGX
RegCo”) adopts a risk-based quarterly reporting approach, that is,
quarterly reporting is mandatory for risky SGX Main Board listed
companies, while the rest of the companies have the option of quarterly
or semi-annual reporting. Rule 705(2) of the SGX Main Board Rules
stipulates that a SGX Main Board listed company that satisfies one of the
following conditions must announce its quarterly financial statements
immediately after the relevant figures for each of the first three quarters
of its financial year are available, and the announcement time shall not be
later than 45 days after the end of that quarter:

EEXTH AR, BT RS A ] (SGX RegCo) KT MBS HIZE
W7k, RIS XURS: B AR LT w5 R B GER OG 3, HRAH]
LG PRI BRI T EBEE 705 (2) FHE, 6
DA At 2 — W b BT A J) L AHE R = AN Z T R ZR A %
e afilg, SLHASHEFRENFHRE, A5 EAFETZEE
gEW A 45 K

(a) its auditor expresses an adverse opinion, a qualified opinion or a

disclaimer of opinion on the latest financial statements of the SGX
Main Board listed company; or

Hw TS EAR BT A R B M S IR AR T EE . R
(b) its auditor expresses a view that a material uncertainty that affect

the going concern exists in the SGX Main Board listed company’s
latest financial statements.

HA IR S, TR T2 5] B I 55 10 & o A7 A8 R AN

TN, MRSLAE.

The above provisions do not apply to a SGX Main Board listed company
under the following circumstances:

ERREAE LTSN AR BT A
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(a) it is under judicial management, winding up or provisional
liquidation; or

IEHANAIEE IS E BRI, B

(b) its assets consist wholly or substantially of cash or short-term
securities as specified in Rule 1018 of SGX Main Board Rules.®

FBR ™ A O 73 B EARFIN 28 1018 2% KL E BB < ik 20

WEZF2H k-
Rule 705(3) of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that a SGX Main
Board listed company that is not required to prepare quarterly reports in
accordance with the above provisions must either announce the financial
statements for each of the first three quarters of its financial year, or
announce its first half financial statements, in each case immediately after
the figures are available, but in any event not later than 45 days after the
relevant financial period.

FHRFNEE 705 (3) Z5ME, Toiatg I s B e g i 2= P2 4 o5 158
T3 E 557 58 5 Bt AR T3 A ) Db 20 A L0 5% 55 i ] SRS SR A A1
HIABAE R = AR — R 5k E, SRR B
I 554k, BB MIMIE O, AR IS (R ASE T4 5 55 B 1) J5
(] 45 K.

1.1.2 Financial statement preparation requirements
WA 5%+ 3R 1) G i) 22 R

Rule 705(3A) of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that financial statements
need to be prepared in accordance with Appendix 7.2 of the SGX Main Board

Rules. In particular, if a SGX Main Board listed company needs to adopt
quarterly reports, it may submit them in any format provided that the same
format is used for every quarter; if it adopts semi-annual or annual reports, it
then must submit them in the same form as its most recently audited annual
report.

FHHIEE 705 (BA) FME, W55 75 B 42 W8 AR B 5% 7.2 259
Hilo Horr, EMR BT AR WK HEERE, WU AR, (B

® Rule 1018 of the SGX Main Board Rules sets out the relevant rules for cash companies, which are
companies whose assets consist entirely or substantially of cash or short-term securities.

O EHRANEE 1018 ZKHUE 1 B2/ MIAH BN, Bl W] A48 4 FB B #8735 Bl < s
JUETR AL 2 7] o
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AN AR AR TR A% 3 R P S P AR o AR AR A, T s 2 A
I 28 T AR BE A T AR R AT A 5L

In addition, the interim reports must also be prepared in accordance with the
following accounting standards related to interim financial reporting as set out

in the rules:
BEAR,  H R S I DA ZTURR 4 LTS A DU A 1 A I 55 55 A D% 2 T HE T G
il

(1) Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International);
CHr 3 45 s e CEBR)Y (“SFRS (I)s” s

(2) IFRS;
CE BRI 455 D) (“IFRS” D
(3) US GAAP.

(EEANSENDY (“US GAAP” ).
1.1.3 Content requirements for financial statements

W 5 AR (1 N A K

Appendix 7.2 of the SGX Main Board Rules sets out the information required

to be disclosed in interim reports and annual reports.
EARIMIBR 3R 7.2 2600 1 A R S A R S P iR 115 2
(1) Interim reports

R

The report should include the following (summarized below):

L S=INPN RS N R

(a) Aprofit and loss statement and statement of comprehensive income
(for the group), or a statement of comprehensive income, together
with a comparative statement for the same period of the preceding
financial year.’

" The following items are material and must be included in the profit and loss accounts or in the notes to
the profit and loss accounts for the current financial period being reported and for the corresponding
period in the preceding financial year: investment income, other income (including interest income),
interests on borrowing, depreciation and amortization, write-offs of bad debts and allowance for bad
debts, write-off for stock obsolescence, impairment of investment value, exchange gains and losses (if
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(b)

(©)

(d)

PR m R (EHED, m&gamE, Uk E—5%
PRI BRR 7

A statement of financial position (for the SGX Main Board listed
company and group), together with a comparative statement as at
the end of preceding financial year. In relation to the aggregate
amount of borrowings and debt securities of its group, the following
information as at the end of the current financial year, together with
comparative figures as at the end of the preceding financial year also
has to be specified: the amount repayable in one year, in less than
one year, or on demand; the amount repayable after one year;
whether or not the amounts are secured and details of any collaterals.

WSS IRBLR (MR BT A m] REERD, JFHE B 55 R I
PR . R T AR K i 27 BB 36 7 i B A = A
FEERKTEL, PLRM E— 55 BRI LBy —
T DA B MR ORI R NI B A — R A
W B0 TA IR USAT RS S K PER1E 2

A statement of cash flows (for the group), together with a
comparative statement for the corresponding period of the
preceding financial year.

PlaimaER (ERD, Bk b0 555 AR B R B LE A R

All statements of changes in equity or statements of changes in
equity arising from causes other than capitalization issues and
distributions to shareholders (for the SGX Main Board listed
company and group), together with a comparative statement for the
same period of the preceding financial year.

P A 25 A2 B R B R AL I & (capitalisation issues) [ I
R B CLAMNE R 5 R A A2 sh & (MR BT~ \] L EER/D,
TP b — I 55 4 5 [R] BB R

applicable), adjustments for under- or over-provisions of tax in previous years, and gains and losses on
sale of investments, property and/or plant and equipment.

TRAIE R E BRI, BN BT R (AR I 45 R R b 45 R R N 30 1] 1 45 2 R B

R P G HARRN CBFERIEWRNO . ERFIE . SrIHFIRESE . A% A R K ARk
WS4 T FETERI S (Write-off for stock obsolescence) MM EIRE . VL5 (nid
FHDOL XS CARTAE BE A T3 B0 2 THR B R 2 DA R 5 5 08 Wb A /i) B Rl 2% 1 4 2
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and to provide:

RS

(1)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

details of changes in the share capital of the SGX Main Board
listed company arising from issue of shares purported for
rights issue, bonus issue, subdivision, buybacks and other
purposes since the end of the previous period;

B E—HRPK, KBt (rights issue). I5ZLH% (bonus
issue) FEErEL [RIESE H A AAT A 1 51 RS Ak E
2> ) A AL BN (R PE A 5

the number of shares, treasury shares and subsidiary holdings
that may be issued after the conversion of convertible bonds
and their percentage of the total number of issued shares as at

the end of the current period to the end of the same period of
the preceding financial year;

A e e i Jm AT RE R AT BB AR R AR IROR - 8 ) R A
(subsidiary holdings) H&tHE & H HSEE AR K& E—

WA 554 B2 TR B OR A AT I3 S B 1 70 B

the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares)

as of the end of the current period and the end of the preceding

year;

BEAWIRMN E—E RO RATRAS (REFEEFEO
iORSE e

a statement setting forth the sale, transfer, cancellation and/or

utilization of all treasury shares as of the end of the current
financial period; and

FI I AR 55 R R T A FEAE IR S . ik 34
A/ B F I LR s AN
a statement listing all sales, transfers, cancellation and/or

utilization of subsidiary holdings as at the end of the current
financial period.

H A 2 AR 5% WK T A R FE (subsidiary holdings)
WA . Bk, FEERT (B0 R HLIIRE .
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(e) If the most recent financial statements have been affected by an

®

(g

(h)

(1)

adverse opinion, qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion, updates
on the SGX Main Board listed company’s efforts to resolve each
outstanding audit issue and the audit committee’s confirmation that
the impact of all outstanding audit issues on the financial statements
has been adequately disclosed.

MR BT SRR Z PP HE L. RESLBEEERE
SR, )7 B AR T 2w D AR R A OR R T ]
AR A HE R85 0 1) Bl it i DL R o 2 B 2 i BT R
TR I 55 R I RE M 25 CL 78 0 35

Earnings per ordinary share (of the group) and net asset value (for
the SGX Main Board listed company and group). In particular,
earnings per ordinary share is calculated by deducting all preference
share dividends, based on the weighted average number of issued
ordinary shares, on a fully diluted basis.

Wil R R A (SRR LB dHE (CEMRCET A= LEERD.
Horb, @AM EAE BRI A RS . BlEk
AT E B I I BON BRI 72 58 A W A HE Rl Bt AR

Performance review (for the group), including discussion of

significant factors affecting the turnover, costs, revenues, cash flow,
working capital, assets or liabilities.

WEPFE (ERBD, BfETHSEmE LA, B i, Bl
fiE. Bigbe. s E RN =R,
The amount and date of dividends paid for the current and previous

periods, as well as a statement on not declaring dividends (if
applicable) and the reasons for the decision.

AR E— e EIRE e IR, BUECRE IR
BRI (i) AE HRE R PR .

Other information required to be disclosed by SGX RegCo,
including:

FAtHr A A M A W BRI R . B

(1)  whether the disclosed figures have been audited or reviewed,
if so, the audit report and a description of the auditing
standards or practices relied upon;
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

WE T RAETH TS E, WO i 72 It
THRr, IR U AR R B T R A 5

whether the same accounting policies and computation
methods have been applied as in the SGX Main Board listed
company’s most recently audited annual financial statements;

Fe K5 KAT NI 28 1 v B A W S5 4R R AR A 2
THBERTH 72

if there are any changes in the accounting policies and
computation methods, including changes required by an

accounting standard, the content, reasons and impact of such
changes;

IMRA 2 BERMTHE AR A, s N
EORRIARE, ARE AR AL SR RN

if a forecast or prospect statement has been previously
disclosed to shareholders, further disclosure of any
differences between such forecast or prospect statement and
actual results is required;

R SRV BT S5 R S A O R AR P, A
S e 12 TN B T 57 RO 5 S s 45 R 2 TR A AE AR A 22 575

a commentary as at the date of the announcement on
significant trends and competition circumstances in the
industry in which the group operates and any known factors
or events that may affect the group in the next reporting period
and the next 12 months;

T & B A AR e E AT HEE LR,
DL AT BEFEMA A SR AL N — MR G SR KR 12 S H WEY
AEAT RN R B PP

if the group has obtained general mandates from shareholders
for interested party transactions, it is required to disclose the
aggregate value of transactions carried out pursuant to such
mandate, with the disclosure including the names of the
interested parties and the nature of relationship. If no mandate
for interested party transactions has been obtained, a
statement should be provided;

40



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHS N SS: FHEUEF S P BT AR T Han Kun Law Offices

(vii)

IR SR B CLARAT B A0 A 3 98 RN A 5 1) — BLARAL
U 75 45 R AR A2 A ACREAT (A 5 BB, e A A B 37
AMFERABNGES . RAVER . WERRREAF R RN
DAL T R AR — 173 75 1

confirmations from the directors of the SGX Main Board
listed company that, to the best of their knowledge, nothing
has come to the attention of the board of directors that may
render the interim financial statements false or misleading in
any material aspect, but the directors are not required to
commission an audit of those financial statements. The
confirmation may be signed by two directors on behalf of the
board of directors;

Tt BT AR MEFH SRR, EESRAERD
AT 0] e A Hh I 55 T AR AE AT AR B K077 1 FAT R B ez
SRR NI EIN, (HAZOREFH XX L 55 iR BT
Hit. BB 2 A EEAREEREE.

(viil) the SGX Main Board listed company must give undertakings

to all its directors and executive officers to comply with the
SGX Main Listing Rules and submit such undertakings to
SGX when necessary.

Tt b w A H T AT BN G
TR ) v, FFAEAT 7R %ﬁﬁ%x%ﬁ”ﬁ%ﬁwo

(2) Annual reports
R

The annual report should also disclose the content of the interim report

above. In addition, it should also supplement the disclosure of the

following information:

AR M E R DL RS PN, A, R EAN K
UL NME R

(2)

segmented revenue and results for business or geographical

segments (of the group) in the form presented in the issuer's most

recently audited annual financial statements, with comparative

information for the immediately preceding year;
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(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

PLRAT N il i 20 o T IR 48 B W 554 & I 81 (1 7 20 2 Bl
SSAMBIX A 7 AL ST CBRHRD, PR E—F R LS E B

when reviewing the performance, the factors that lead to any
material changes in the contributions of each business or
geographical segments to turnover and earnings;

FEH BN SN, T B 55 H T B X T A i
TR A2 B RARAL ) R 3%

sales details, including the listing and comparison of the following
data between the latest financial year and the preceding financial
year: sales reported in the first half of the year, operating profit/loss
after tax before deducting non-controlling interests reported in the
first half of the year, sales reported in the second half year, operating
profit/loss after tax before deducting non-controlling interests
reported for second half year;

THERA, HET R 7 BOH 0 55 AE FE AN b — 0 55 4R FE 1Y
DHIMEE . EAEE S A G B IR ER AR
il 14 A 28 7T BB f5 & ki 3 Coperating profit/loss after tax
before deducting non-controlling interests reported for first half
year). FPAERE MBI ER. T A0 BR IR 8 i1 A 5 7T )
FiJg g\t ai C(operating profit/loss after tax before deducting

non-controlling interests reported for second half year);

the total amount of dividends for the latest full year and the previous
full year divided into three categories: ordinary shares, preferred
shares and total shares;

SO —BAE A b — B R B, AR SRR A
=%

disclose whether any person holding a managerial position in a SGX
Main Board listed company or any of its principal subsidiaries is a
relative of a director, chief executive officer or substantial
shareholder of the SGX Main Board listed company. If not, the SGX
Main Board listed company must make an appropriate negative
statement.
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€)

FE AR _E T 2w BHAR AT 32 m AR E A AL
MiZ N EWR ET AR RESE. 5 HAT B B B R R K
RJE. ARBA, ECETT A w2 B E R .
Specific industry requirements
Ry B AT R
Rule 705(6) of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that pre-profit life
sciences companies and mining, oil and gas companies that meet the
listing qualifications under Rules 210(8) and 210(9) of the SGX Main
Board Rules are also required to make an announcement on the use of
funds/cash for the first three quarters immediately after the relevant
figures are available for that quarter and to make a projection on the use
of funds/cash for the next immediately following quarter, including
material assumptions.® The announcement must be made no later than 45

days after the first three quarters of the financial year and not later than
60 days after the last quarter.

FRBMEE 705 (6) FHw, FFEFHRMMEE 210 (8) KK 210

(9) 5% BT BRI R BRI A B A = A= Al R EA
AIE RN A R A G, SRR 5 S/ 4
B LT A, RN — N R R S/ S AR
P, EAEERRE S WBUE R =R A S D %R
SRR 45 RN KAT, e — 2R RS DA% =R 45 G 1)
60 KN KA.

Mineral, oil and gas company announcements must also include details of
exploration (including geophysical surveys), development and/or
production activities carried out by the SGX Main Board listed company,
and a summary of expenditure incurred on those activities, including any

8 This rule no longer applies under the following circumstances (i.e. from non-profit to profit):

i. For life sciences companies, once the issuer is able to meet the profit criteria stipulated in Rule
210(2)(a) of the SGX Main Board Rules, or all its principal products have been commercialized.

ii. For mining, oil or gas companies, once the issuer is able to meet the profit criteria specified in Rule
210(2)(a) of the SGX Main Board Rules, or all of its principal mineral, oil or gas assets have been put
into production.

SPANTEOLT, SNSRI ARE RIS B AD:

LV ERREA AR S, —BERATANBRBERE M) 5210 (2) (a) KPHT R &E AR HE,
ST R 2 R LA

i B AMECRR AR, — BT AR IR (RN 25 210 (2) (a) %M
SE M EAIBRAE, BT EEY . AR IR R BB
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1.2

material variances from previous projections. If there are no exploration,
development and/or production activities, this fact must be stated.

B AR TS 7~ 5 I L AR R AT AT RIBIR (R dE
MERPDELERI D T RAN/ A FHE S A S, LIS B
KRR SO EE, RAEXS 5 Se R P AR ] 5K 22 3 IR . 2R
AR T RA/EA A IES,  A 20 X — sk

Catalist board

AR

According to the SGX Rulebooks - Catalist Rules (“Catalist Board Rules”),
companies listed on SGX RegCo’s Catalist Board (“Catalist Board listed
companies”) are required to regularly publish financial information every year,
including annual reports and interim reports (quarterly or semi-annually, as the
case may be). The publication periods, preparation requirements and content
requirements of financial information of Catalist Board listed companies are
largely similar to SGX Main Board listed companies, except that the location of
the provisions is different. Among them, the financial information of Catalist
Board listed companies must be prepared in accordance with Appendix 7C of
the Catalist Board Rules.

MRAE GBI 22 2 B U 2 i —— VR AR (LRI 7D, 3
WA L AR CHIRRETAR " SBFEIUEWEAMSEE, B
RGP (B EEEEEE K, MIEME). IR E
T2 w0 3545 JE A R AT A RR G il 2R be A 2R 5 AR BT 4w REL
L, RREFICHIALE AR . Hdr, SRR E T2 = 5515 5 e Zitda i
AU I B =% 7C EAT G o

In terms of specific industry requirements, Catalist Board only targets mineral,
oil and gas companies listed on Catalist Board (pre-profit life science companies
are only given preferential listing conditions on Main Board). In addition to the
same disclosure requirements as for mineral, oil and gas companies under the
SGX Main Board Rules, Rule 705(6) of the Catalist Board Rules also
specifically provides that for mineral, oil and gas companies whose principal
activities include the exploration of minerals, oil or natural gas, the use of
funds/cash and forecasts must be confirmed by its directors confirming that, to
the best of the directors’ knowledge, no such information has been found to be
false or misleading in any material respect, but the directors are not required to
commission an external audit or review of the statements. The confirmation
letter can be signed by two directors on behalf of the board of directors.
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1.3

FERE EAT M E SR TT T, BUAMIARCACEE XS FE UM A7 B8 7 . A SRR
T (CREAMAGREE A FAE RS TR EW ). BrS BRI
WP RR AT 77 A R R AR A R B4 R SR A, BRI S 705
(6) ZFIEFFAIME, LETHESEIFEIRY . AR R ™.
T AT R AR ] e 20 P S AT 8 </ B < AR (S PR L, A A B
EFPR, BT ROUEAT LA S AEAR T H A5 1 HAT AR Bk 3 1
(EARZOREFN LI RRBAT I A S T e & ARl 2 A3
REHEHBE.

Consequences of failure to disclose financial information in time

REFH T 5515 BHIJER

A breach of the disclosure rules for listed companies may be deemed to be a
contravention of Section 203 of Singapore’s Securities and Futures Act 2001
(“Singapore Securities and Futures Act”). Under Section 204, contravention
of the disclosure rules may result in a fine of up to S$250,000 or an
imprisonment term of up to 7 years.

i S bl o w3 R RN T e A AL D RTINS €2001 SEAETR KBTI
C“ CUEZFFIAREEY 7 ) 28 203 sk00ME . R 204 WHE, &
A R FUN T BE x4 Ak LAt v 25 7338 T B S sk Bl iy 7 AR A

Under Section 46 of the Singapore Securities and Futures Act, the government

has broad powers to direct SGX RegCo to take certain actions, such as suspend
trading.

WRYE CUEFR KIEHE) 27 46 2%, BUNIIA T ZMIBU R G758 S R B
RLEATH), WMEEZ .
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Approval and Disclosure Requirements for Transactions of
Listed Companies

EWARIR 5 FIHAI AR R EER

A Shares
A

1.1

Approval and disclosure requirements for transactions of listed companies:

approval and disclosure requirements for major transactions
EWARRGERHMAEREFERER: EXZHHMAERFEEER
Types of major transactions that should be disclosed or approved
IVEE T RN E O B i

Concept of major transactions

N L i

According to the A-share Listing Rules, major transactions include the

following types of matters that occur in_addition to the daily operating

activities of A-share listed companies:

RAE (A B EATRD, FRAZ G505k A I EHAF HEEEEZ 4

& DT NSRBI E
(1) acquisition of assets;
WK
(2) sale of assets;
HH A B 7
(3) external investment (including trustee investment, investment in
subsidiaries, etc.);
XPHMETE (R RAREN . T AR B
(4) provision of financial assistance (including interest-bearing or interest-

()

free loans, entrusted loans, etc.);
Rt 555 (A BEE LB, BIEREED);

provision of guarantees (including guarantees for holding subsidiaries,
etc.);
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(6)

(7)

(8)

)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

SEAHELR (X A FHE RS );

lease in or lease out assets;

RN B A H 587

entrust or entrust management of assets or business;
TACEE AL E B AL 55

donation or acceptance of donation of assets;

W 55 B G BT

restructuring of creditor’s rights or debts;

A B i 55 AL

transfer or assignment of research and development projects;
ik B Ak AR T |

signing of a license agreement;
ZEATVF R A HI BN

waiver of rights (including the right of first refusal, the pre-emptive
subscription right, etc.);

BEFBA CHIFFIESEM AL PLse N SRS );
other transactions as recognized by the A-share Exchange.

A2 5 Tk € ) HAAE 5 o

The following transactions of A-share listed companies do not fall within the

provisions of the preceding paragraph:

A B BT AR AR T SIS S AN 8 T RN E R 30

(1)

2)

purchase of raw materials, fuel and power related to daily operations
(excluding the purchase and sale of such assets in an asset replacement);

WSk 5 02 aE MRREM B PORLISN ) (NS B B il
Wk VB IESRBE™);

selling products, commodities and other assets related to daily operations
(excluding the purchase and sale of such assets in an asset replacement);

HE i S HESEMRIN S OS5 BEfvh i LY
Jov R,
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(3) although the transactions specified in the preceding paragraph are carried
out, they belong to the company’s main business activities.

EHEAT RO RE K28 5 IR & T 28w 0 28 555 30

Among them, the ChiNext further clarified that “establishing or increasing
capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary” does not belong to external investment
matters, the Sci-Tech Innovation Board further clarified that “purchasing bank
financial products” does not belong to external investment matters; the SSE
Main Board further clarified that “interest-bearing or interest-free borrowing”
is a matter of provision of financial assistance.

Horr, QDbARGEE— DB T CROLEE T T T A AR T AN
BT BRI D U T I SCARAT B 7 AR T AR B

LTI ool =Y 8 vt 71 I SN /e SN (= PN e i U g
i

Criteria for disclosure of major transactions and submission to the shareholders’

general meeting for approval
L ORAT 5 3% 5 I N AT i AR R 2 ol U b

According to the A-Share Listing Rules, if a transaction (except for the

provision of guarantees and financial assistance) of an A-share listed company
meets one of the following standards, it should be disclosed and/or submitted to
the shareholders’ general meeting for approval in a timely manner (if the data
involved in the following indicators are negative, the absolute values shall be
taken as the basis for calculation):

RAE (A B bRy, A B bmiaml kAN S GREHE RN 555 )
FIRAN), KB IIbRHEZ — B, NS P A/ R A2 AR K4 X
(AT Habnd SRR IO Ul BCERHE T 5

Serial Relevant that should be of shareholders for approval
number indicators disclosed REFRAT R ARS8
FF5 VEES £ L% 55 i KL 5 B S

Major transactions that should be
Major transactions | submitted to the general meeting

The proportion More than 10% More than 50%
that the total 10%bL F 50%LL
assets of the
transaction
account for
against the latest
audited total
assets of the A-
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Major transactions that should be
Major transactions | submitted to the general meeting
Serial Relevant that should be of shareholders for approval
number indicators disclosed RFRAT R RS
s VEESIED MBI E RIS HERR G
share listed
company
o B BB
A B LT ARRIE
—HEHITER
P
2 The proportion Shanghai and Shanghai and Shenzhen Main
that the net assets | Shenzhen Main Boards:
of the transaction | Boards: VR AR -
target (for . TIRTEM: (1) more than 50%; and 50% LA
Instance, equity (1) more than 10%; k. H
interest) account ’ ;
for against the and (2) the absolute amount exceeds
latest audited net 1%Ll Lk H RMBS50 million
assets of the A- (2) the absolute 7%t G miEt AR 5,000
share listed amount exceeds Yabin
company RMB10 million . . .
(Shanghai and Skt U Sf)l—TeCh Innovation Board:
Shenzhen Main AR 1.000 73 %
Boards)/or the — ’ (1) more than 50%
market _ = _ 50%LL |
capitalization® of | Sci-Tech Innovation
the A-share listed | Board:
company (Sci- | BN
:fCh;;novaﬁon (1) more than 10%
oar J
SRR 10%E
BO B
A R BT AR &RIE
—HIEH TR
72 (PERERD /
B AR ETRA
AME S (RHl
B H
3 The proportion Shanghai and Shanghai and Shenzhen Main
that the Shenzhen Main Boards and ChiNext:
transaction Boards and ChiNext: | vy . SR
amount (including |y 347, Gk (1) more than 50%; and
debts and W .
expenses assumed) |~ 50%Lh ks H
(1) more than 10%;

® Market capitalization refers to the arithmetic average of the closing market capitalization of the 10

trading days before the transaction.

* LR A &3 i 10 M52 5 H W B SR T2 1E
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Major transactions

Major transactions that should be
submitted to the general meeting

audited net profit
of A-share listed
companies in the
most recent
financial year

2 5 A A E
i A ETAHE
B —M&i4E
BE&H i ERE
53]

RMBI1 million
IS X TFEPN
Rt 100 15
JG

Serial Relevant that should be of shareholders for approval
number indicators disclosed RFRAT R RS

s VEESIED MBI E RIS HERR G
accounts for and (2) the absolute amount exceeds
against the latest 10%LL . H RMB50 million
audited net assets (2) the absolute Za gk AR 5,000
of the A-share —
. amount exceeds Ji7t
listed company RMBI10 million | Sej - :
(Shanghai and o \0 Sci-Tech Innovation Board:
Shenzhen Main gt | B
Boal‘ds, )\E ﬂ:J 1,000 73‘ (1) more than 50%
ChiNext)/or the JG 50%DI |-
market Sci-Tech Innovation
capitalization of Board:
the A-share listed .
company (Sci- RO
Tech Innovation | (1) more than 10%
Board) 10% LA I
5 A A

(BHEAER5
FHBRA) 5 A
& BT A F Bk
—HAZ B
72 (PERER
BNEAR) /ER & A
gk LW A TE
(BHEIRRD B
4 The proportion (1) More than 10%; | (1) More than 50%; and
that the profit and 50%LL . H.
?re;;:;gtg(:lm 10%LA E; H. (2) the absolute amount exceeds
(2) the absolute RMBS million

accounts for 4 R
against of the amount exceeds %Xﬂ’ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ}\%ﬂi 500 /3

JG

The proportion
that the operating
revenue of the
transaction target
(for instance,

(1) More than 10%;
and

10% M L H
(2) the absolute

(1) More than 50%; and
50%LL ;5 H

(2) the absolute amount exceeds
RMB50 million
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Major transactions

Major transactions that should be
submitted to the general meeting

instance, equity
interest) in the
most recent
financial year
accounts for
against the
audited net profit
of the A-share
listed company in
the most recent
financial year

RHIRH gk
B #iE— &
THEBSRNE &
A ETAFRBIE
—NEHEES
HTHEFNE R

Serial Relevant that should be of shareholders for approval
number indicators disclosed RFRAT R RS

s VEESIED MBI E RIS HERR G
equity interest) in amount exceeds A3t A AR 5,000
the most recent RMB10 million Vibiw
financial year 24 %5 4 AFiAE
accounts for M 1,000 75
against the _ ’
audited operating 7t
income of the A-
share listed
company in the
most recent
financial year
' Y lC )i
PO BE—4&
HHEREE LN
& AR AR
BE—AaTHE
BE&wETHE IR
PN: ]

6 The proportion (1) More than 10%; | (1) More than 50%; and

that the net profit and 50%bL . H.
of the transaction 10%EL L H (2) the absolute amount exceeds
target (for

(2) the absolute

amount exceeds
RMBI1 million

7 %) 4 AR i
AR 100 /5
It

RMBS5 million
2355} & AR N 500 15
JG

In the event that an A-share listed company enters into a transaction for the

purchase or sale of assets, if the total amount of assets involved or the amount

of the transaction exceeds 30% of the company’s latest audited total assets by

cumulative calculations within 12 consecutive months, in addition to the
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disclosure and auditing or appraisal, the transaction shall be submitted to the
shareholders’ general meeting for approval, and shall be approved by more than
two thirds of the voting rights of the shareholders present at the meeting.

A B LT AR KA RS HER AL g, 25T L5 e B AE
LEBAEESE 12 N A WA B I A 5 fol — A 1 2555 30%
(1, BRI 28 28 93047 & T B PR A8, B YIRS AR R, I
22 i 2= U 2R B R R AU =43 — DL badiad

Circumstances exempted from approval at shareholders’ general meeting

o T AR R 2 X E T

According to the A-share Listing Rules, an A-share listed company is exempted

from the approval procedures at shareholders’ general meeting for transactions
that do not involve the payment of any consideration and do not carry any
obligations, such as the granting of cash assets and the obtaining of debt relief.
The Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards and the ChiNext additionally
stipulate that the following types of transactions of an A-share listed company
are exempt from submission to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval:

RAE (A B B gtmy, A B b A e KA PSR ILE 577 . 3R1561 55 ik
B N AT~ AN AL XSS B2 55 v] S T B AT AR R 2 i
. AT EM AT ER (B “PIREWR” D Ak A /MR
BT AR BT AR R T RS 5 0] o TR AR K25

(1) the profit generated from the transaction accounts for more than 50% of

the audited net profit of the A-share listed company in the most recent
financial year, and the absolute amount exceeds RMBS5 million;

TP EFRNE S A BT A & Bl — AN S TR B E T R
50%VL b, H4ax&auEE N R M 500 73 7t;

(2) the net profit related to the transaction target (for instance, equity interest)
in the most recent financial year accounts for more than 50% of the
audited net profit of the A-share listed company in the most recent
financial year, and the absolute amount exceeds RMBS5 million, and the
absolute value of the company’s earnings per share in the most recent
financial year is less than RMBO0.05.

SR A FEHGE A2 THE A RIS A A B T

/)

AR FOE— DR UHER L THEREE 50% 0, B4 & a0
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1.1.4 Audit or appraisal requirements
i B4 2R

According to the A-share Listing Rules, if the transaction target is an equity

interest and meets the criteria applicable to each board that should be submitted
to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval, the A-share listed company
shall provide an audited report of the transaction target’s financial report for the
most recent one year and one period; if the subject matter of the transaction is a
non-cash asset other than an equity interest and meets the criteria applicable to
each board and that should be submitted to the shareholders’ general meeting
for approval, an appraisal report shall be provided. The cut-off date of the
audited financial report shall not be more than six months from the date of use
of the audit report, and the valuation base date of the valuation report shall not
be more than one year from the date of use of the valuation report. The Shanghai
and Shenzhen Main Boards require that the foregoing provisions shall apply to
the transactions required by the CSRC and the A-share Exchanges in accordance
with the principle of prudence, by the company in accordance with its articles
of association or other laws and regulations, etc., and by the company
voluntarily submitting the same to the shareholders’ general meeting for
approval.

I CA B BRIy, A2 5 br i BB HLIA 21 & Acsad Y O R 24 5242 ik
IRR WS, A B T2 =) B B4R 5y b i) il — A X —
RS B H R R s A S hR B IR LA AR B < B Hoak B & A
FHIE N 252 58 B AR K 2 W PR RS, N S SR PP Al i i o 8 T 5%
i e H ER B H TR A A B AR N L TR R Al R v
H R VAL AR ) A — 4. IR BRGNS, P EHER S
A8 5y BT AR Y wE RN ZE5K A m) AR H AR B AR R R A e, BA
Fos ) B RIS AR K23 v W AE Zy I, N 255 AT IR R E

In addition, the Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards specifically require that
when a transaction of an A-share listed company reaches the major transaction
disclosure standards applicable to that board, and the counterparty uses non-
cash assets as transaction consideration or to offset the debts of the A-share
listed company, the A-share listed company shall also disclose the audit report

or appraisal report of the non-cash assets involved in accordance with the
foregoing provisions in compliance with the standards. If the transaction of a
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company listed on the Shenzhen Main Board reaches the standard that should
be submitted to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval, the company
shall also disclose the relevant audit report or appraisal report in accordance
with the aforesaid provisions.

BN, PIREBFRAIE, 1 A K ETTA RRAESS 58 Bz
R G Pgabrte, HAZ S35 AL B 1F A8 S 3 sl i A
B LT ARG H, A B BT 2w IR R 2 4 BT IR B E Rk B SRR
B AT A ARAE R # T RS B IR . PRACET B BT AR A B Ik
BN B IRACIR R B BARERY, [R5 42 3 R € 5 e A 0% o 11 B
BRGE R

Except for the Shanghai Main Board, all other boards require that the audit
report or appraisal report of the target must be provided, that is, although the
transaction does not meet the standards that should be submitted to the
shareholders’ meeting for approval, the SSE and the SZSE (pursuant to the
listing rules of the Shenzhen Main Board, including the CSRC) deem necessary,
the A-share listed company shall provide audit report or appraisal report on the
object.

B LA P MRS, Hofh S BRI E 1 B2 S bR R BE 7 B T B DAL
WS MRS, RIAZ 5 BARIK BN 3R A AR K AR e, B2
EAZf e RSP GERAZ P AR BT B UGE R s o ERIE 2 ) YO
(1, A BT F] R 4R bR R B 7 ) B T B DA R

The Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards specifically require that if an A-share
listed company purchases or sells a minority interest in the transaction target,
and if the A-share listed company is indeed unable to audit the financial
accounting report of the transaction target for the most recent one-year and one-
period because of objective reasons such as the A-share listed company is
unable to form control, joint control or significant influence over the transaction
target before or after the transaction, it is exempted from disclosure of the
auditor’s report in accordance with the relevant regulations after disclosure of
the relevant information, except for those cases where otherwise stipulated by
the CSRC or the A-share Exchanges.

VIR AIE, A B b2 m W e AR 5SS S hr i AD BUB AR, TR A
e BT o R A S I 30 TE AN 5 G bR AR e ) [ ) e K
Wi 58 5 WAL, S S0 S TE 320 A8 S b (9 il — A 3L I 55 > T
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Special rules for financial assistance transactions
W 2% 5% B A2 5 < IO R iR R e

According to the listing rules of the Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards and

ChiNext, an A-share listed company providing financial assistance must obtain
the consent and resolution of more than two-thirds of the directors present at the
board meeting, and perform information disclosure obligations in a timely
manner.

AR T IR AR L QAR BT E , A B bl m SRR 55 B, B
HEMFHEFLZWN =02 U EEFFRRBIHEL R, AN EATE
SR 55

If a financial assistance matter falls under any of the following circumstances,
it shall be submitted to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval after
being deliberated and approved by the board of directors:

W25 R B IUm T R AE IR — R, B AE R Fa B BOE I e 1RSSR

NS

(1) the assisted party has a gearing ratio exceeding 70% as shown in its
financial statement for the latest financial period;

W BT R Gl — WA v TH B S 70%;

(2) the amount of a single financial assistance or the cumulative amount of
financial assistance provided within 12 consecutive months exceeds 10%
of the company’s latest audited net assets;

PRI 5% 5% Bh G a3 R 2R 124 H NI 45 %% Bh Bt R AR & EE
A& il — A B R EE ) 10%:;

(3) other circumstances as specified by the A-share Exchange or the
company’s articles of association.

A2 5y P8 2w R E I HAR TS Y o

When an A-share listed company provides financial assistance to a controlled
subsidiary within the scope of the company’s consolidated statement with a
shareholding of more than 50%, it is exempted from the approval of the board
of directors and the shareholders’ meeting and from disclosure. Among them,
the Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards require that the other shareholders of
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the aforesaid controlled subsidiaries do not include the controlling shareholders,
de facto controllers and their associates of the A-share listed company, while the
ChiNext has not imposed any restriction in this regard. ChiNext listed
companies whose main business is the provision of external borrowings, loans
and other financing businesses are also exempted from approval and disclosure
by the board of directors and shareholders’ meetings when financial assistance
matters occur.

4 A B BT aal AT B EN RO A TG IR G F A BRI )k

50% MR T AR, ATV T EHS . ARSI LT HEE. K,
VIR TERCE SR TR A AR AP AGE A K ETA R K

MR SRR S RN, QDEAR AT A B o DU o4 it A

W BUREERN B S5 L BN S BNE AR BT A R], AR KA 55 B )

FIN, AR TERES . ARSI TP .

For companies listed on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board, when providing

financial assistance, turnover should be based on the transaction amount. When

the transaction amount accounts for more than 10% of the market capitalization

of the A-share listed company, it should be disclosed in a timely manner; when

the transaction amount accounts for more than 50% of the A-share listed
company, it shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting for approval.

YRR BT AR S, RO & %R, MY LLAE 5 kAR HUE N AL
B, UG EEE A B BT AR THER 10%0L B, 82 K
2 U HMMZ SR A K BT AR TER 50%LA ERy, NS AR
RREHWL.

Special provisions for transactions involving the provision of security

e P AE TRAZ 5 ST R PR E

According to the A-share Listing Rules, transactions involving the provision of

guarantees by an A-share listed company shall be deliberated and approved by
the board of directors; in addition to being deliberated and approved by a
majority of all the directors, they shall be deliberated and approved by more
than two-thirds of the directors present at the board of directors’ meeting, and
shall be disclosed in a timely manner.

WRYE (A B ETRUND, A B bl AmRAERBIRIZ SN AT FE S
HPUEE; BRHaedEHNEFEHE DO A, NN EER S
KW =7r 2 UL EEHEEIOEE, IR
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The following guarantee matters of an A-share listed company shall be

submitted to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval after being

deliberated and approved by the board of directors:
A BB E R ARSI, A FHa H OB R 1R AR AR K2 F L

(1)

(2)

&)

(4)

(5)

(6)

the amount of a single guarantee exceeds 10% of the company’s latest
audited net assets;

FASEAHORAE L A w il — 2w T B 10%H04E IR

any guarantee provided after the aggregate amount of external guarantees
of the company and its holding subsidiaries exceeds 50% of the
company’s latest audited net assets;

TP T A IR AR AT, B A ) B IR A
B 50% LG R SRR 0

guarantees granted to a guarantee recipient whose asset-liability ratio
exceeds 70%;

B EGE IS 70%H04E PR RAR SR TE IR

the guarantee exceeds 30% of the company’s most recent audited total
assets based on the cumulative calculation principle of the guarantee
amount for 12 consecutive months;

R R e BOESE 120 H B RN, 8 ARl i — s i
ENBEFE 30% R

guarantees granted to the company’s shareholders, de facto controllers and
their affiliates;

XHBCZR L SEBR N S RIR NSR BRI E AR

other guarantees as specified by the A-share Exchange or the company’s
articles of association.

A2 oy i o m R RLE B He Al E Ok o

Among them, “guarantee exceeds 30% of the company’s most recent audited

total assets based on the cumulative calculation principle of the guarantee

amount for 12 consecutive months” shall be passed by more than two-thirds of

the votes held by shareholders attending the shareholders’ general meeting.
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In addition, the Shanghai and Shenzhen Main Boards require that the aggregate
amount of guarantees provided by an A-share listed company and its controlled
subsidiaries that exceeds 30% of the latest audited total assets of the A-share
listed company must be submitted to shareholders’ general meeting for approval
after deliberation and approval by the board of directors; for the guarantee
matters provided by a ChiNext listed company within 12 consecutive months,
if the guarantee amount exceeds 50% of the company’s most recent audited net
assets and the absolute amount of which exceeds RMB50 million must be
submitted to the shareholders’ general meeting for approval after deliberation
and approval by the board of directors.

BeAh, PR ERIIME, A B bl w) R A T 2w AR AL AE fR
S, R A BT A R ROE — A B 30% DL SR AL AR fT 4
RAE T = B UOE I R IR AR K8 AR Bl A =BESE 12 4
H AR L 2 7 el — A2 B TR BT (1 50% B4 X e AiiE i A
R0 5,000 /3 7o MI4H OR S T2 AL 3 2 B UOE T R 1R IR K= J i

Guarantees given by an A-share listed company to its subsidiaries are also
considered external guarantee matters. Regarding the provision of guarantees
for subsidiaries: (A) a Sci-Tech Innovation Board listed company provides
guarantees for a wholly-owned subsidiary, or provides guarantees for a
controlled subsidiary and the other shareholders of the controlled subsidiary
provide guarantees in the same proportion to the interests enjoyed by the
controlling subsidiary, which do not jeopardize the interests of the listed
company and fall into one of the guarantee situations in items (1) to (3) above,
it may be exempted from submission to the shareholders’ general meeting for
approval, unless otherwise provided in the company’s articles of association;
the listed company shall summarize and disclose the aforementioned guarantees
in its annual reports and semi-annual reports; (B) a ChiNext listed company
provides guarantees for its wholly-owned subsidiaries, or provide guarantees
for its controlled subsidiaries and other shareholders of the controlled
subsidiaries provide guarantees in equal proportions based on their rights and
interests, which falls into the aforesaid items (1) to (3), or if the guarantee
amount in any of the guarantee situations exceeds 50% of the company’s latest
audited net assets for 12 consecutive months and the absolute amount exceeds
RMBS50 million, it may be exempted from submission to the shareholders’
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1.2

1.2.1

meeting for approval, unless otherwise provided in the company’s articles of
association.

A R ET AT 7 ARHEREK, 0T AMERFET. X T AR R
R (A BIEIR BT AF a5 rad i g, s ko
) P2 A OR HLA% B 2 ) HAth B 2R 4% P 2 A R B 42 14 ) 25 EL il 4R 08
ARHE B ARG B TR (D 2 Q) BE— R 1,
DL R R A AR R 8, (HREA R BRSO MERI: Eias M
LR AR FE AR A AR AR A L S R AR 4R (B) kAR BT A #
NER T A RO, B T 2w R pEE R Az b7 2 7] HoAt
AR P = R SR AL R E LR AR, B T aTie (1) & (3) T, 5
FIELE 12 A ARG 2 7] il — 2 8 THR 57 1) 50% H.48%
ST AR 5,000 5 eHRAE—HREEZ 8, "] BLE IR R K
W HA R BRI A E BRI

Disclosure requirements for each type of major transaction

FERR G R ENE

Contents and important contents reminder to be included in the announcement

of each type of major transaction
BHERZGHEATGNAEHHNE R EENERR

The relevant provisions on the contents to be included in the announcements of

certain types of major transactions (including purchase and sale of assets,
foreign investment, financial assistance and provision of guarantees) and
important reminders as set out in the Shanghai Stock Exchange Guideline No. 1
on Self-Regulation of Listed Companies — Formats of Announcements,
Shanghai Stock Exchange Guideline No. 3 on Self-Regulation of Listed
Companies on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board — Routine Information Disclosure,
Shenzhen Stock Exchange Guideline No. 2 on Self-Regulation of Listed
Companies — Formats of Announcements and Shenzhen Stock Exchange
Guideline No. 2 on Self-Regulation of Listed Companies on the ChiNext Board
— Formats of Announcements are as follows:

(LHRIETFAE S Bl A BRI ESRRE S 1 5—2 5K (Bleik
EWiaF BEEERRMS 3 5—HEELHE) GRYNEZFAZ 5 L
AE HEREERE 2 5—a 5K M GRINESR A5 BrakiR
mas BN ETRRESE 2 5—A 5K ST MEERLS (B
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Major Contents to be included in
transaction types announcements Contents of important reminder
HERIZHMAE AENEEHAE HERTIAE
Purchase and (1) Transaction Overview (1) Brief content of the transaction
sale assets 5 A (name o.f transaction target,
WL &R (2) Introduction to the tran.sactlon matters, ngmes of
) ot parties to the transaction,
cjl;; Xe]fp‘a‘r iyﬂ/\eg transaction amount, etc.)
oA LSHEENE GG
(3) Basic information about the . ZHHT. A5 %4 H
transaction target NGRS 2854
25 B j= o e
S5 ?ﬁ%$ & {R (2) Such transaction does not
(4)  Evaluation and pricing of constitute a connected
transaction target transaction
LoVl T 1 PN &N S
e (3) Such transaction does not
(5) Main contents of the constitute a major asset
transaction contract or restructuring
agreement and performance IVRAE 5 AN i 78 v e 1 44
arrangements
. o N (4) Approval and other related
N AN RS 3 o
iﬁgj H ]ﬂiﬁﬂ W EZ P procedures yet to be completed
LB for transaction implementation
(6) Impact of purchase and R 5 St I FE R AT B A
disposal of assets of the A- M TR
share listed company (5) Other risk matters that investors
- e o v
m@i > EHSE%"M AL should be reminded to focus on
Elias=Aal ~ . oo
LRl ot T SRR e T
(7) Opinion of intermediaries on R = T
such asset purchase and sale
transaction (if applicable)
AU RS AT S
BRAHEN (i
A
External (1) Overview of external (1) Name of investment target
investment investment AN AP
XA EBE A MR (2) Investment amount
(2) Basic information on the ik 455
parties to th? investment (3) Related risk warning
agreement (if applicable) U
A N v, X W, N
B DL PO 52 P
QUbE;ED
(3) Basic information on
investment target
BB ARHIFEA G B
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Major Contents to be included in
transaction types announcements Contents of important reminder
HERRGMR AENETHNE HERTAE

(4) Main contents of the foreign
investment contract

XN A R ) A A
(5) Impact of foreign

investment on the A-share
listed company

XEAMEBENS A B BT AT
o}

(6) Risk analysis of foreign
investment

XFAMBEBE AU 73 H

(7) Progress disclosure

B A
Financial (1) Overview of financial aid (1) Subsidized parties, method,
assistance matters amount, term, interest, etc.
g 4 55 Bt B S IR ik BEIN R T, e B
(2) Basic information about the . FIEAE
subsidized parties (2) Approval procedures fulfilled
W BT IR G ) HEAE 1 JBAT (R T
(3) Main contents of the (3) Special risk warning
financial assistance B RS 4 7
agreement

W 55 SR BN 2
(4) Risk analysis of financial

assistance and risk control
measures

Wt 55 % By JRS 2 B S XL £
fE it

(5) Opinion of the board of
directors
HASEN

(6) Opinion of intermediaries (if
applicable)
AP E R CansdEHD

(7) Cumulative amount of
financial assistance provided
and overdue amount

T FR LI 55 B Bh A K
1 1<

(8) Financial forecast (if
applicable)
55wt Cans&E D

(9) Others
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Major Contents to be included in
transaction types announcements Contents of important reminder
HERRGMR AENETHNE HERTHNE
FHAt
Provision of (1) Overview of the guarantee (1) Name of the guaranteed person
guarantees FE A4 v A AR and whether it is a connected
3 AE R (2) Basic information of the person of the A-share listed
company
guaranteed person . Y s "

(3) Main contents of the
guarantee agreement
AR P EEE A

(4) Necessity and
reasonableness of guarantee
FHAOR 1) 05 EEVEFN A

(5) Opinion of the board of
directors
HHREEML

(6) Accumulated number of

external guarantees and
overdue guarantees

E ARSI 7S (6w E ik i
HORIEE

@)

G)

4)

©)

[EFAEES YN

Amount of such guarantee and
the balance of the guarantee
actually provided for it

ARG P H AR
IR ERT S S

Whether there is any counter-
guarantee for such guarantee

A AERAE AT A LR

Cumulative number of overdue
external guarantees

XA R ORAE ) R TR

Special risk warning: if the total
amount of external guarantees
issued by the A-share listed
company and its controlled
subsidiaries exceeds 100% of the
latest audited net assets,
guarantees are provided to units
with gearing ratio exceeds 70%,
guarantee amount exceeds 50%
of the latest audited net assets of
the A-share listed company, and
the A-share listed company’s
guarantee amount to units
outside the consolidated
statement of accounts reaches or
exceeds 30% of the latest
audited net assets, investors
should be reminded to pay full
attention to the guarantee risks

FEA KB A B ETiA A
PELT S RYNEIPS LA IS K
i i — W B T R

100%- XF &= ffii R

0% AR A OR . H R &
AL A B BT A ] i —
GRS 50%, DL A B
A FR A R E AN ERALH
FHAR & A0 2 5 I il — 3
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Major Contents to be included in
transaction types announcements Contents of important reminder
HERRGMR AENETHNE HERTAE

ZH RS 30% T T,
N BRI AR 5 3 Fe A i AR
ASE

1.2.2  Documents for inspection for each type of major transaction

el DN = B Wi

The documents for inspection as required by the Shanghai Stock Exchange

Guideline No. 1 on Self-Regulation of Listed Companies — Formats of

Announcements and Shenzhen Stock Exchange Guideline No. 2 on Self-

Regulation of Listed Companies — Formats of Announcements in respect of

certain types of major transactions (including purchase and sale of assets,

external investment, financial assistance and provision of guarantees) are set out

below:

(e S Bl A B E RS 1| 5—~afKa) A (F
PREZFAZ o e B A "] BRI ESR SR 2 5—— A 8% al) X3 A
KERLZY CAFEME R HED . SHMEEE . M55, 44D

PUE % BRI

Large transaction types

ERZHFR

Documents for inspection

#HE I

Purchase and sale assets

V3K 2 B B

(1)

2

€)

4

)

(6)

(7

Internal approval documents of the A-share listed company
(such as board resolutions, supervisory board resolutions (if
applicable))

AR ET AR NSO (IR R Bk
W CanEH)» >

Approval documents from the competent authorities involved
in the transaction

52 oy A BRI 3t SC
Letter of intent, agreement or contract relating to the
transaction

556 RAER . HhEE R
Audit report (if applicable)

R (i D

Appraisal report (if applicable)
PR (A& D

Legal opinion (if applicable)
PR CnED

Opinion of the intermediaries (if applicable)
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Large transaction types

O LS

Documents for inspection

e

®)

)

HAHU RN, & D

Financial statements of the assets purchased or sold
g S B L R B 7 ARV 55 4R R

Introduction to the beneficial owner of the transaction

counterparty and attach a chart of the investor’s shareholding
structure (if applicable)

525 R T7 WIS PR R AN 4 I HH BT N RIS R & (i
EHD

(10) Summary table of transactions of the A-share listed company

A B BT AR 5 16 DUkt %R

(11) Other documents required by the A-share Exchange

2 5 I BER ) HeAt LA

External investment

XTAM

(1

2

€)

Project feasibility study report (if applicable)

T H A AT YRR AR (A& D

Contract or letter of intent for external investment
X AN B[R] B )15

Other documents required by the A-share Exchange
A2 oy T B SR (A HoAh S A

Financial assistance

Vot %5 3 Bh

()

2

€)

“4)

Board resolution

BRI

Financial assistance agreement

W 55 B

Opinion of sponsor or independent financial adviser (if
applicable)

ORAE N B SZI0 55 it i) A, s D
Other documents required by the A-share Exchange
A2 5y FIT B SR A HAB S A

Provision of guarantees

RELHELR

(M

2

&)

Board resolution

HFZRW

Guarantee agreement

HHLRHML

Other documents required by the A-share Exchange
A2 5y FT B SR ) HAB S A

64



HAN KUN

Meeting Continuing Obligations:

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHBEN S5 FEIEARZ S T BT A= FH Han Kun Law Offices
Hong Kong

T

1. Approval and disclosure requirements for listed company transactions:
approval and disclosure requirements for notifiable transactions

EWARZGERMMERBEEER: AFAMKIZ B RFEER

Hong Kong listed companies are required to approve and disclose any notifiable
transactions in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Fr s T A ) 24 B A TS T R U0 BB DY 5 R R v A 3 R AT ] 20
T AR 5

1.1 What is a notifiable transaction?
AR T A FARIZE 5 ?

For the purpose of Chapter 14 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, “transactions”
carried out by a Hong Kong listed company include, without limitation, the
following types of, among others, arrangement or agreement: (i) acquisition or
disposal of assets, (ii) entering into or terminating finance leases (where such
leases have a financial impact on the balance sheet and/or profit and loss account
of the Hong Kong listed company), (ii1) grant of indemnities, guarantees or
provision of financial assistance, (iv) entering into or terminating operating
leases (where such leases are due to their size, nature or number have a
significant impact on the business operations of the Hong Kong listed
company).°

AEB LTS HNENS, & LiandtiTey “25” aflEAR
PRF AT 2R sl () fOls B 5. G 7 L bk 5t
RLBT i 22 55 A0 B0 A i b i 28 w1 1 B3 7 S fot o S /i 2 K B A W 9552
M) Gii) AR HIBEEORAE . HORBER MM 55558, Gv) 1T ER& IR
BT Gz SE M5 b T . PERR e H IR &, P& LT AR KA
EilsfFRAERN), 1

Whether a transaction is required to be announced depends on its size, and the

size of a transaction must be assessed using the following five types of tests (the
“transaction size test”) (see Rule 14.07 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules for

10 For details, please refer to Rule 14.04(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules for the complete definition
of “transaction”.

10 PE WL AERE ETTRINEE 14.04 (1D AKX “Z5”7 HEE L.
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details):

IR Gy R IR T AT IR T H AR, 1T TR S I AR U AR 38
MR PPl C “AEZIERR” D FE AR ETTINEE 14.07 560:

(1)

2)

&)

(4)

(5)

Assets ratio: the total assets involved in the relevant transaction divided
by the total assets of the Hong Kong listed company;

B AR RIS P KB R ME, BRAE B B A A B
ISSIER

Profits ratio: the profit attributable to the assets involved in the relevant
transaction divided by the profit of the Hong Kong listed company;

BANLER . FRZ G LB MG 8], BrAEE BT A1
£ 5

Revenue ratio: the revenue attributable to the assets involved in the
relevant transaction divided by the revenue of the Hong Kong listed
company;

Yoot PEA s A RAE 5 iy R B 7 N o i, B AR i 24 =) 1Y)
e

Consideration ratio: the relevant consideration divided by the total market
capitalization of the Hong Kong listed company. The total market
capitalization is the average closing price of securities of the Hong Kong
listed company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange for the five business days preceding the relevant
transaction date; and

PO EER . R B A BT AR W ES A eSS E
BT AR Pra & i Bl A mHES: T 938 5 H 2 i e
A H #F B, &

Equity capital ratio: the number of shares issued by the Hong Kong listed

company as consideration divided by the total number of issued shares of
the Hong Kong listed company before the relevant transaction.

AL FiE EHT AR AT R BH . BR LT R
oy A o w CRAT B S A

Hong Kong listed companies must determine the type of transaction based on

the ratio derived from the above transaction size test and refer to the following

table (set out in Rule 14.08 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules) to comply with the
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approval and disclosure requirements of the corresponding transaction type. For
detailed calculation methods, please refer to the provisions of Chapter 14 of the
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

il BT A m R I B IR AT Sy MBI A5 I B, RS2 DL R R
CRTAB EWRINEE 14.08 250 AKFIMTAZ 5 AL, DL ST A RAE 5 Fi
FRAHE R PR EOR . VAR TR 30, 162 A B EE A+ &=

2% 3L
Equity
Transaction Consideration Revenue capital
type Assets ratio ratio Profits ratio ratio ratio!
YLD S jidpal= 4 Rt Vil Wamtb® | AR !
Share Less than 5% | Less than 5% Less than 5% | Less than 5% | Less than 5%
transaction | {5 59 1T 5% &+ 5% &+ 5% T 5%
4322 5
Discloseable | 5% or more, 5% or more, 5% or more, | 5% or more, | 5% or more,
transaction | butless than | but less than but less than | but less than | but less than
FPHEK | 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
35 5% LA, | 5%E L L, 5% LA F, | 5%ELE, | 5%EREL L,
BART 25% | BT 25% | EET 25% | BART 25% | (HAKT 25%
Major 25% or more, | 25% or more, | 25% or 25% or Not
transaction | butless than | but less than more, but more, but applicable
— disposal 75% 75% less than less than A5
FEXH— | 25%kL 25% LA L, | 75% 75%
HEF I b, AT | EET 75% | 25%E0 25%B1 LA
75% E, BT | B KT
75% 75%
Major 25% or more, | 25% or more, | 25% or 25% or 25% or
transaction | but less than | but less than more, but more, but more, but
- 100% 100% less than less than less than
acquisition | 250, 5] 25%ak DL |, 100% 100% 100%
EEXH— | L, BET | AT 100% | 25%2Lk 25%% LA 25%% LA
W= 100% b BT | B BT | B R T
100% 100% 100%
Very 75% or more | 75% or more 75% or more | 75% or more | Not
substantial | 750054} | | 75%BELLE | 75%BBA | 75%8KEL | | applicable
disposal A&
EHERN
HE B

11 The equity ratio only relates to acquisitions (and not disposals) by a Hong Kong listed company when
it issues new equity.

WA AR R B R B b A R RAT R AN #EAT RSOl R OF AR R EF T

67




Meeting Continuing Obligations:
A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges
CBATHS N SS: FHEUEF S P BT AR T

HAN KUN
X % E S R

Han Kun Law Offices

Equity
Transaction Consideration Revenue capital
type Assets ratio ratio Profits ratio ratio ratio?
ZHME | WEHE | RIHEE | EAEKE | dskk | Rk
Very 100% or 100% or more | 100% or 100% or 100% or
substantial | more 100%% L I more more more
acquisition | 100,51 I 100%K LA L | 100%8% LA L | 100%BK LA L
FEHEKRK
W 35
1.2 Approval and disclosure requirements for each type of transaction

BB 5 PRI HLAE R 3 R

Rule 14.33 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules summarizes the notification,

announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements for each type of

transaction in the following table:

A BT RN AR 14.33 68 N R DT A UE 1 s AR iE . FIE A
N R AL HE T RE -

Notification

to the Hong

Kong Stock | Publication of | Circulars to
Transaction | Exchange an shareholders | Shareholders’ | Accountants’

type EHIFYEE | announcement Bl approval report
LS BRAZ TgEA% RIBE JARfAE | SRR

Share Yes Yes No No'! No
transaction | HE s R N
&332 5
Discloseable | Yes Yes No No No
transactions | g G ATE | AEE N
BT HER
5
Major Yes Yes Yes Yes ? Yes?
transaction | ==gm E £ S 2 2 3
FEXS
Very Yes Yes Yes Yes ? No>
substantial == == =S5 22 g 2 RNEEHE S
disposal
JEHER
HEET
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Notification
to the Hong
Kong Stock | Publication of | Circulars to
Transaction | Exchange an shareholders | Shareholders’ | Accountants’
type FWEIFHE | announcement ) e 4R approval report
T HR BRAZ HEAE RIEE BFR#MAE | SRS
Very Yes Yes Yes Yes 2 Yes 4
substantial == == o S 2 S 4
acquisition
EHERK
WO ST
Reverse Yes Yes Yes Yes 26 Yes 4
takeover 7 | g T T FE 2o FE
RWIE1T3h
7
Note:
VT :
1. If the consideration of the transaction is settled by shares and the consideration

shares are issued under a general mandate, shareholders’ approval is not
required. However, if the relevant consideration shares are not issued under a
general mandate, the Hong Kong listed company must, in accordance with Rule
13.36(1)(a) or 194.38 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, obtain shareholders’
approval in general meeting before issuing the relevant consideration shares.

W13E 5g 72 UG TECOI R ZEAN S T KACOT 7 2 7 — B AT

WETE IR R M AL U KACOT R G R AT, 7

LT A A ERATH FACOE L T TR 2 vt L i W 13.36 (1)
(a) FEH 194.38 555 AR AKX LRI TENE

If any shareholder has a material interest in the relevant transaction, the

shareholder and his close associates must abstain from voting.

FETTIRA W TS 25 1 i AR ks 2 RIE B RN LT
KA o

An accountants’ report must be prepared on the acquired business, company or
companies (see also Rules 4.06 and 14.67 (6) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules).

WAL HENIGHIA 55— (5] 2L Z [E] A T] 45 St IR 75 (Al L 2570 1 T
HIEE 4.06 K 14.67 (6) 5.

An accountants’ report must be prepared on the acquired business, company or
companies (see also Rules 4.06 and 14.69 (4) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules).
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1.2.1

WAL HENIGHIA 55— (6] 2L Z [E] A T] 5 St IR 25 (] L 2- 7 1 Tl
I 4.06 J¢ 14.69 (4) %),

If the item to be disposed of is a business or company; or if the assets to be
disposed of will generate revenue and have identifiable income stream or asset
valuation, the relevant financial information must be reviewed by the auditor or
reporting accountant of the Hong Kong listed company, in accordance with the
relevant standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board of the
International Federation of Accountants, or the China Auditing Standards
Board of the China Ministry of Finance. The Hong Kong listed company may
choose to prepare an accountants 'report instead of having the relevant financial
information reviewed by an auditor or reporting accountant (see Note I to Rule
14.68(2)(a)(i) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules).

WIH BRI H B 7526 2 7] ;2 H B 5 7 S A, R AT R
IWHIA BL BT 1 I 55 55 FLATZE 2 L 177 A4 7] 19 1 SO0 2  IR
KA, IR I ST I L SB[ Sy 2 1T B 2585 T R [ B 7 i 5
JIE R 2 5 2 [T A T 40 7 - 25 8 2 U B R A
FKF . BB LA A A T FE A iR EUCE 42
HIR 511 57 ] 5 KT 55 ) (278 L i % 14.68 (20 (a) (i)
FME 1D

Approval of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is necessary.
At E B i S AT

A reverse takeover is an acquisition or a series of acquisitions of assets
(constituting transactions or arrangements) by a Hong Kong listed company,
and these transactions and/or arrangements are intended to achieve a listing of

the acquisition targets.

SN (7578 278 177 2 F] IR IREGRTE 5 2N (FEJRE 59 5 27 s
55 5 R 2 L HER A R EAENIG H f L 19 5

Provisions on aggregation of transactions
WA 5 & T E A e

According to Rule 14.22 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange may require the Hong Kong listed company to aggregate a series of

transactions and treat them as if they were one transaction if they are all
completed within a 12-month period or are otherwise related. In such cases, the
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Hong Kong listed company must comply with the requirements for the relevant
classification of the transaction when aggregated and the figures to be used for
determining the percentage ratios.

WRYE A LA EE 14.22 2%, W—EHBL ST 12 N H W ERHE
JEU AR, AR el BEREE L AT, KZEL S G IR
B AT S A B . EIXEEROLR, i BT A R 08 SIS T
R S W IR I A R ME, DU EAT K 70 FLR I

According to Rule 14.23 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, in considering
whether transactions will be aggregated, the following factors would be taken
into account: (1) whether the transactions are entered into by the Hong Kong
listed company with the same party or with parties connected or otherwise
associated with one another; (2) whether the transactions involve the acquisition
or disposal of securities or an interest in one particular company or group of
companies; (3) whether the transactions involve the acquisition or disposal of
parts of one asset; or (4) the series of transactions altogether would lead to
substantial involvement by the Hong Kong listed company in a business activity
which does not previously form part of the Hong Kong listed company’s
principal business activities.

WRAE A s LT R 2E 14.23 2%, BB L [N 5K 28 5 & I T B
BHEEHRRAR: (D 25 NEEETARSE I i ir s s,
B BANA RE BB RN LT AT I 5 (2) 5208 Kk
W B B R E A ] BRI A R IE R B 2t s (B) 5 Z B LI
W B H B — T B 7 RO AL 70 s B (4) 1552 5 3R A 2 8 i bl A
KESH TS, 1Mzl s IR T A& Ll aw 2SI —

W

According to the listing decisions issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
regarding Rule 14.22 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, the purpose of
aggregation is to prevent a Hong Kong listed company from “splitting” an
otherwise large transaction into two or more smaller transactions so that, when
size tests are applied to each smaller transaction, it does not reach the relevant
thresholds for requiring disclosure and/or shareholders’ approval. The above list
of factors which the Hong Kong Stock Exchange will take into account when
determining the applicability of the aggregation rules are not exhaustive. The
relevant rule intends to provide guidance on the circumstances where the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange may require aggregation of transactions of a Hong Kong
listed company. When determining whether aggregation of transactions is
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1.2.2

1.2.3

required in a particular case, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange will consider all
relevant facts and circumstances of the case.

FRAE i A P HY B SR s T AU 58 14.22 261 BT ks, &R 5
W H BB b & # W AR REAL S “Pvdl” MR e A BB /N
HIAZ 5, 2 DABE S AR/ B AE 5 BEAT FRASEIN I, P 3 4 fi S SR 20
TR BB AR A Ko R RIS BT U A ok E IR SR
e miE I T ISR R R IR AR E R il . A RN BELS TG, W
TR Pl BEE SR LT A RKAL 5 &I RGN . 72 e A
FWZ G R GG I EN, TS EIZNEZN A A RSE
SR ABD o

Timing requirements for announcements

O R [A] 5K
According to Rule 14.37 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, a Hong Kong listed

company is required to ensure the confidentiality of information until an
announcement is made in accordance with the Inside Information Provisions
(see below (Part I: Composition and Disclosure of Inside Information — Hong
Kong) for more details) when it reasonably believes that the material terms of
the transaction agreement have been finalized.

AR BTN EE 14.37 %%, & BT A RIEGBAE 22 5 U £ 22
FA g lh, AR REEHRE EEMREANRHEE XL ERLT
3Gy AR BRI SO eI Rl AT

If a Hong Kong listed company considers that the confidentiality of the
information cannot be maintained or that it may have already been leaked, it

must make an announcement or immediately apply for a temporary trading
suspension or a trading halt.

WA Ll AR EA 4R R, siERECEsM, Jik A
5 BT ZI| FH S R R B R

Content requirements for announcements

AR ER

Rule 14.58 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules sets out the general requirements

for the content of announcements of notifiable transactions, including but not
limited to:
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A BTN SR 14.58 60T IR IERAS o A S R I — IEESR, e
FEEAIR T

(1) the identity and a description of the principal businesses of the
counterparty;

A2 5y %ot 07 R B A A 32 L 55 A

(2) the transaction date, the aggregate value of consideration, the basis upon
which the consideration was determined, how it is being or is to be paid
currently or on a deferred basis;

Ao B AR B E . EE AR AR E . B B H R SCAHR K T7
%

(3) the confirmation that the counterparty and the ultimate beneficial owners
of the counterparty are third parties independent of the Hong Kong listed
company and connected persons of the Hong Kong listed company;

BT 07 B 07 R e & S a AT N2 A il i A =] R SGEN
L PASM ML S =TT

(4) the value (book value and valuation, if any) of the assets which are the
subject of the transaction;

A2 5 FITil R B 2 il K IEMEL & (gD AlAED:s
(5) the reasons for entering the transaction; and
BT Z R

(6) a statement that the directors believe the terms of the transaction are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of shareholders as a whole.

HHME LT FAR N T EH . HAF G RARBEAAR 210 5 B

In addition to the above requirements, Rules 14.59 to 14.62 of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules also set out additional content and requirements that need to be
disclosed in announcements of particular transactions, such as (i) the general
nature of the transaction (amount and details of securities, if applicable), (ii) the
brief details on the asset(s) to be acquired or disposed of (including the name of
the company, business, actual assets or properties), (iii) the details of the profit
and loss expected to be recorded by the Hong Kong listed company in respect
of the transaction and the intended use of the proceeds of the disposal
(applicable to disposal transaction), etc.

73



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHS N SS: FHEUEF S P BT AR T Han Kun Law Offices

1.2.4

BT LR ESR AN, FW_EATAUUEE 14.59 & 14.62 25 HAIHAHAZ B A
R R R H BN A AR, Flan (D 5 — PR GIEZRHIEL
H VRS, @D GD R PBOW s & 55 R ek (B A H .
W5 SRR PRSI AR Gii) B BT A F A 38 5 B %
RS TS OB IR E R i CER T &AL S) .
Contents of the circular

A PR 14 N 2%

Rule 14.63 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules stipulates the general requirements

for the content of circulars, which include but are not limited to:
Ak ETTAUNES 14.63 20T BHIE R NI — A ESR, H P B R EAR T

(1) set out all information to allow the security holders to make a properly
informed decision;

BB T A UEZF 45 A N AT AR H A 3 AR A 1) DR 1R 2 AR Bk

(2) arecommendation to security holders that if they are in doubt, they should
consult an appropriate independent adviser;

EVGEZFFA NI BEI, L) 3 R S S ot )

(3) the directors’ recommendations on how shareholders should vote, and
based on the directors’ opinions, whether the proposed transaction
described in the circular is fair, reasonable and in the interests of
shareholders as a whole; and

HF AR B AR A, JFARYEE F AL, fi i e ik
IR Gyt B A A BT B IR B R R 2 [
(4) a statement that shareholders with a material interest in the proposed

transaction and their close associates will abstain from voting in respect
of approving the transaction, etc.

FERR IS 5 AT BLRA 2 A R B R RN, Rl I %08
A2 5y IR BT B AU 5 B4
Please refer to Rules 14.66 to 14.71A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules for other

content to be disclosed in the circulars and other requirements for various types
of transactions.

AR AN AE Ty )3 R P 7 R I A A AN EDKR, S A i BT R
MIZE 14.66 2 14.71A %

74



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHBEN S5 FEIEARZ S T BT A= FH Han Kun Law Offices

1.2.5 Additional provisions

1.3

WO E

The Hong Kong Listing Rules set out additional requirements for major
transactions, very substantial disposals, very substantial acquisitions, extreme
transactions and reverse takeovers. This article will briefly describe the common
additional requirements applicable to the major transactions, very substantial
disposals and very substantial acquisitions for readers’ reference. For detailed
disclosure requirements for various transactions, please refer to Rules 14.38A
to 14.57A of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

RN s p e S a7/ | B EW N TR BN | B 8 SN L U SR
e 52 oy S AT B B BN E « A ST 2 fi ik il HY 3 LA L) 3=
R ARE BRI EFETARE BRSO S E N E, i
BESH . MM N EEIE, HSHEEE LT 14.38A =
14.57A %

Additional provisions for major transactions

FEER GBS E

Hong Kong listed companies are required to comply with the following
additional requirements for major transactions:

it b ] A A S AR ST LR BN IE -

(1) Circulars: arrangements need to be made for the despatch of circulars to
be sent to shareholders and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange;

WK T OB, IR IR S A IR

(2) Shareholders’ approval: shareholders’ approval required for a major
transaction shall be given by a majority vote at a shareholders’ meeting.
If the following conditions are met, shareholders may approve the
transaction by written shareholders’ approval in lieu of convening a
shareholders’ meeting:

A HE . BT 5 B AU BB R Atk iE— Rk B IR K LR
HEE. INRFMRTE, R AT DA ST R K2
(a) no shareholder is required to abstain from voting if the Hong Kong

listed company were to convene a general meeting for the approval
of the transaction; and
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A AR RS AER KA 5, B BR 7 ZTRET R AR 5
K

(b) the shareholders’ written approval has been obtained from a
shareholder or a closely allied group of shareholders!? who together
hold more than 50% of the voting rights at that general meeting to
approve the transaction. Where a Hong Kong listed company
discloses inside information to any shareholder in confidence to
solicit the shareholders’ written approval, the Hong Kong listed
company must be satisfied that such shareholder is aware that he
must not deal in the Hong Kong listed company’s securities before
such information has been made available to the public.

T e AE M AE R HE R KA B R K& ER A B LR A
BEERL 50% L B — 2 AR A F VIR IR 12 frés
To A A s BT O A AT AR AR A 45 N e TE B DA I
RA A HE, Ak BT A w] D AU AE 12 2R R E AR AE %
LTRI AT, KL BT A A HIIESR
Note: If the transaction is to be approved by shareholders at a general meeting,
the circular is to be despatched on or before the notice convening the general

meeting to approve the transaction, if approved in writing, the circular is to be
despatched within 15 business days from the publication of the announcement.

VE: WX GRFERESR TR KX L, K& RN ]2 T 1
HI ISR A 2> AL 2 L5 9 AT EEZ B ;- 20 EL A3 1T AL, R T kR 1Y
W] T2 PR S 15 ANEL H Z P o

1.4  Additional provisions on very substantial disposals and very substantial
acquisitions

FEERNHEFHRIEFERNBIEERH B E

12 When determining whether a group of shareholders is a “closely allied group of shareholders”, the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange will consider the following factors: (1) the number of shareholders in the
group; (2) the relationship of the shareholders in the group, including any past or current business
contacts between two or more persons; (3) how long have each been a shareholder; (4) whether they
will jointly be regarded as “acting in concert” under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers; and (5) their
past pattern of participation in voting on shareholders’ resolutions (except for routine resolutions at
annual general meetings).

RAERE MR R T CHBEVBRARRIBAR” N, FBEEIREE TAIFER: (1D it
WARMINEG () ZIBRIIR R, AR P44 Bl b A A 5 H A R T IL 55 B AR
(3) A& HBABRARE Z A (4 R4 QRIS ID, AT GRS “ —8ran”
Nt e (5) AT AE 2 5 BAR W R R DU OB A 48R & B BAT el BR AR -
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Hong Kong listed companies are required to comply with the following
additional requirements for very substantial disposals and very substantial

acquisitions:
A o m AR R H TR AR RO S IR s PR
BANLAE -

(1) Circulars: arrangements need to be made for the despatch of circulars and
the circulars shall be sent to shareholders and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange;

ek 7 LHTIAER, BB S AR T

(2) Shareholders’ approval: shareholders’ approval that is required for a very
substantial disposal and a very substantial acquisition must come from a
majority vote at a shareholders’ general meeting. Unlike major
transactions, written shareholders’ approval cannot be used in lieu of a
general meeting, and shareholders with a material interest in the relevant
transaction and their close associates are required to abstain from voting
on relevant resolutions at the general meeting.

J AR A s AR B KA 5 S IO AR K AL I P ) B 2R
LHELIOR BRAR K> ERRZ AR . WEE, SEELZHAF,
ANBE AR AR B HEAEACR AR R &, 0 HLAEAT -2 5 A AT B KA i
B 2R B L B I R NAE AR 2 R SRBLRI 75 B R R ok
Lo

Note: The timing of despatching a circular is at the same time or before issuing

a notice to convene a shareholders’ general meeting to approve the transaction.

VT RIXIE BRI RAEK 138 77 1 TR A2 LU 28 57 19 Jei i 3.2 i o
1.5  Summary

JS¥d

In simple terms, Hong Kong listed companies are required to notify the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and publish an announcement in relation to the
transaction when they enter into the above notifiable transactions. However,
Hong Kong listed companies are generally not required to circulate circulars to
their shareholders, obtain shareholders’ approval of the transaction or prepare
an accountants’ report if the percentage ratio of the size tests for the transaction
is less than 25%. If one or more of the percentage ratio(s) of the transaction size
test reaches 25% or more, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange will require the
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shareholders of the Hong Kong listed company to approve the transaction and,
in some cases, to prepare an accountants’ report.

T, A b A T AT R AUT A SN, H T i A
S AT S T3 S A5, {ELIT A 58 5 2% 3K 5 MR H
SAGT 25%, Bl b7/ 7 — S 5 B 160 LI 2 DS o 3R 75t
52 5 IR B A 2 T TR 2 o SR — S 2 25 5 UM 1 H i
5 25%a L F, AT A BRI b A 7 AR 5, L
T R A 2 TR
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United States

e

1.1

Approval and disclosure requirements for transactions of China-Based US-
Listed Companies: approval and disclosure requirements for material
transactions

FRER LA RIR S E AR R EER: EAR ZitHERFEER

Disclosure requirements for material transactions

ERBERPEER

According to the requirements of Rules 13a-16 and 15d-16 of the US Securities
Exchange Act, China-Based US-Listed Companies as foreign private issuers are
required to fulfill their real-time reporting obligations (Current Report)
stipulated in the US Securities Exchange Act, through Form 6-K. China-Based
US-Listed Companies must disclose the following material information in Form
6-K:
s (CGLENEZFAZHiE) 13a-16 MU K 15d-16 FUM A EESR,  Frt b
ANFUENSNEFAN AT AT @ 6-K RGBT (CEENEHFAE Hi%) M
SE FISERT e 45 (Current Report). HHMERY b 115 A &) A Z0IALE 6-K A% H
P LT ERE R
(1) material information disclosed or required to be disclosed pursuant to the
law of the jurisdiction of its domicile or in which it is incorporated or
organized,
AR I AT b . 33 Y 1 B S 3l RV 2 O B SR 8 T B E RS
(2) material information filed or required to be filed with a stock exchange on

which its securities are traded and which is made public by that exchange;
or

[ Fe AT U7 A2 5y WIIE SR 52 5 P B AR B B2 SR H RO F %2 5 i
TFRERES; 5

(3) material information distributed or required to be distributed to its security
holders.

I R BRIy K HAE S A N RS &
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1.2

In practice, we have noted certain situations in which a China-Based US-Listed
Company is subject to current report obligations through Form 6-K, including
but not limited to: (i) issuance of securities elsewhere than in the US (e.g., listing
of a China-Based US-Listed Company on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange); (i1)
privatization offers to a China-Based US-Listed Company made by directors
and senior officers, etc.; (iii) issuance of bonds; (iv) large amount financial fraud;
(v) advice by the auditor that the auditor’s opinion for a certain period shall not
be relied upon; and (vi) signing of a large amount settlement agreement.

SRR, SRR B A A I 6K SR SR
SO REEART: () 2R T RSO RAFES (o
PO 1 A AT EACT s i) BRI A S0 o
e b AR R IR LA, GiD RIFHS: (v) FEER SIS
Bis (V) AU S0 B IR 6 R AT AR (i) 25 KRR
s

Disclosure of material matters
BRENHEBEAE

The matters required to be disclosed in Form 6-K shall be material. There is no
clear written standard for materiality, but it is determined based on the basic
“materiality” standard of the US securities laws and regulations, that is, from
the perspective of a rational investor, whether the disclosure of such
circumstances is material to the investor’s decision to buy or sell securities.
There is also an interaction between materiality and probability, that is, when
judging whether a certain matter needs to be disclosed, the higher the materiality
of the matter, the lower the probability of its occurrence is required. Matters
generally required to be disclosed include:

6-K FA% ELR Bl Fe Y SF N N B 2L (Material) 1. HEEZEME (Materiality)
A WY B RSO RR A, 1T e 2 T 58 [ R 27 V2 R A DU e i A f << B P
PRUEREAT FIT,  BOAERVE LSS BB R, PER 251G DN TR K 32 IE
FFIRE T & A B, EEPE A et WA E Gt BAE, BIE
IR R IR 5 R A EE N, 2O R R, O R AR
REZR ()RR . — MRS T PR () FH I 45 -

(1) changes in business operation;
AV 55224k

(2) changes in management or control;
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)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

B R BRI AL AL

acquisition or disposal of assets;

ATy Ak L 5 7 5

bankruptcy or receivership;

B B

changes in the certified accountant engaged by the issuer;
RAT NPT BRI 2 IR AR AR Ak

financial condition and results of operations;

WA 55 RN 228 AR s

major legal proceedings;

Eip/ NFEvEIo

changes in securities or security guarantees;

UEZF BOE TR HH ARG DL 221K 5

defaults on relevant obligations of preferred securities;
XIS UE TR AR 5 355 i e

significant increases or decreases in the amount of outstanding securities
or debt;

RATAEHMIUEZ7 B 5T 55 < 80 ) EE R I sl

the outcome of matters submitted to a vote by security holders;
IHRAZLAE T 5 A N BRI ST 45 R

transactions with directors, senior officers or principal security holders;
HEFE. MPEHANRRTEEEF A AL S

granting of options or paying other remuneration to directors or senior
officers; and

7)o S B U BN D3 T IR B A F A s DA%

any other information the foreign private issuer considers to be material
to security holders.

A EARANRAT NAAFHIETF R N 5 52 AR A Al A5 R
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1.3 Timing of disclosure of material matters

ERBEIHER A

Form 6-K must be filed promptly after the material contained in the report
becomes public.

6-K A% LA AL T AL 5 AR 2 0T 5 SN 352
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Singapore

IR

1. Approval and disclosure requirements for major transactions of listed
companies

EWATEKRI Z AR FEER

Chapter 10 of the SGX Main Board Rules and the Catalist Board Rules
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “SGX Listing Rules”) stipulates the
rules for major transactions by Main Board listed companies and Catalist Board
listed companies respectively, mainly focusing on acquisitions, realizations and
the provision of financial assistance. The SGX Listing Rules impose different
types of approval and disclosure requirements for transactions depending on the
size of the transaction.

FEHRI R IR PR A “ EHHN” ) 5 10 Zaale 17F
B b A | R DVRI bR BT A R 34T B RS B N, 3 R S AN
ARPR DA S B 5 3R By o AR AL Gy R AN[R], b Tl B X6 52 A AN TR
S HEAE J B R oK

1.1 Main Board
B4

1.1.1 Definitions and classification of transactions
26 5h 5 SR 5y

Rule 1002 of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that “transaction” refers to
the acquisition or disposal of assets, or the provision of financial assistance, by

an issuer or a subsidiary that is not listed on the SGX or an approved exchange,
including an option to acquire or dispose of assets. It excludes a transaction
which is in, or in connection with, the ordinary course of its business or of a
revenue nature. It also excludes the provision of financial assistance to the issuer,
or its subsidiary or associated company.*?

ERHMEE 1002 2652,  “A25 7 RARRAT NBARER S Fr et E i
2o LT A RSOl B B B, SR ALY S5 BB AT N . A
TR B AL B BT 7 AR B . AN ELIEAE FL IR W b 55 Y P B IR

13 According to the SGX Listing Rules, an associated company refers to a company in which a listed
company or group holds 20% to 50% of its shares.
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F AT A RINAL T WAL, 2SI AN LT A AT N BT 4 H]
BRICE A w] BRI 45 55 .

Rule 1004 of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that transactions are
classified into the following categories:

ERANEE 1004 25 HU5E, 5250 AT JLK:
(1) non-discloseable transactions;
ARZR T P = 15 5 5
(2) discloseable transactions;
T AR = HIAE 5 5
(3) major transactions; and
FEZL G M
(4) very substantial acquisitions or reverse takeovers.
AR EE R ST B el A

Rule 1006 of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that whether a transaction
falls into the above categories depends on the size of the relative figures
computed on the following basis:

FARFEE 1006 25HE, FIWr—IZ 55w T UL ERNE 5, 7%
AR AT FE it 4 580 XA 3o e K/ T g
(1) Asset ratio: the net asset value of the assets to be disposed of, compared

with the group’s net asset value. This basis is not applicable to an
acquisition of assets.

LR W B I B E S AR B E R L. e
Bt ANE FH B WU

(2) Profit ratio: the net profits attributable to the assets acquired or disposed
of, compared with the group’s net profits.

A PO YSIW BE H B B8 7 i 7 2 R 3 R 5 AR B 13 R 1 B AL

BORRE BTN, BCE A R] (associated company) SEFRHE F T A B B FEEA I 20%~50% /8 4
A
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(3) Consideration ratio: the aggregate value of the consideration given or

(4)

(5)

received, compared with the issuer’s market capitalization, based on the
total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares.

RprteZe: 4 7R e E, SRATARTE GETE
FAT e B ACFEEAFBD KT E 3T L.
Equity ratio: the number of equity securities issued by the issuer as

consideration for an acquisition, compared with the number of equity
securities previously in issue.

AL RAT NAF IR K AT B BRCAIE 7 B0 5 S il AT 0
A UEZF SO EAR LE .

Reserves ratio: the aggregate volume or amount of proved and probable
reserves to be disposed of, compared with the aggregate of the group’s
proved and probable reserves. This basis is applicable to a disposal of
mineral, oil and gas assets by a mineral, oil and gas company, but not to
an acquisition of such assets. If the reserves are not directly comparable,

the Exchange may permit valuations to be used instead of volume or
amount.

fif b AL B A IR ik AR REfE & 1 B AR ER 5 &R 2
PRI i B AT ] B fifk RS AR R BB R AN L . 2B RE R TH7 . A
AT R IR A T A AT R IR S AL S, (HAE T4
BESRBE ™ WO o n Rl B AN BAT EAE AT LUk, O s il v VRAE
(EIERAVEE B & % o

The figures calculated based on the above method and the corresponding

transaction classification are summarised as follows (please note that there are

slight differences for REITs and property trusts):

A L S A R ORI A R GIERE, AT
BB MG REITs MM HE, TR AR BOES:
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Equity
Transaction Asset Considera Profit ratio' Reserve
type ratio tion ratio ratio B2 ratio Remarks
ZHME | BrEHE | ROEE | FlEtE EhE 4 | fEEHE &iE
Non- 5% orless | 5% orless | 5% orless | 5% orless | 5% orless | All criteria
discloseable | 50,56 | | 5%BELATF | S%EBAT | 5%ELAT | 5%uEBAT | mustbe
transactions met
E (V7 5743 AR TF
iapd> &

Discloseable | more than | more than | more than | more than | more than | Any one
transactions | 5%, but 5%, but 5%, but 5%, but 5%, but method
R EN not more not more not more not more not more that meets
=% 5 than 20% than 20% than 20% than 20% than 20% the criteria

fizzhun jiEzun jizzpun jizzpu jizzpun fF—T0AF
5%, 1BA | 5%, BA | 5%, BA | 5%, EA | 5%, HA | GRI6]
ik 20% | I 20% | I 20% | I 20% | I 20%

Major more than | more than | more than | more than | more than | Any one
transactions | 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% method
—disposals | it 20% | AL 20% | #E 20% | Bt 20% | #3d 20% | that meets
TERH— the criteria
& T
A HpAp
Major more than | more than | more than | more than | more than | Any one
transactions | 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% method
FEXH— | il 20% | 20% | @i 20% | it 20% | it 20% | that meets
W W T the criteria
T — BT
A EpAp
Very 100% or 100% or 100% or 100% or not Any one
Substantial | above above above above applicable | method
Acquisitions | 10095551 | 100%EKLL | 100%EEL | 100%EkEL | AiEf | that meets
or Reverse E E E E the criteria
Takeovers 1 — T
FEEEKRK A Epay
WO 2 T B
Ry
1.1.2  Non-discloseable transactions
AEZ0 T 5k (1122 5

Unless otherwise provided by the SGX Main Board Rules (such as in
circumstances of continuous disclosure obligations, interested party’s

14 The equity ratio only relates to acquisitions (and not disposals) made by companies listed on the SGX-
ST when they issue new equity.

WA LA R W R A i BT A R RAT R BEAT MO T OF AR R EF T
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transactions, etc., see below for details), non-discloseable transactions do not
need to be disclosed.

AR AN 5 MU (I R RE X 5 R R A ST,
SLALE TS0, US4 R4 5 T 45 -

Discloseable transactions
T PRI 5

In a discloseable transaction, the issuer is required to disclose the following

types of information as soon as the terms of the transaction are agreed upon:

IMTWFIIAE 5, RAT N AL 5 2 0B i BUR LRI & LA R L

Kfx

(=g
(1) Basic information
HAAE R

(a) particulars of the transaction, including the name of any company
or business, where applicable;

LoV, AFAET A F SR A FR (& HD;
(b) adescription of the trade carried on, if any;

VN 3 A OE i B IE SR

(c) the aggregate value of the consideration, stating the factors taken
into account in arriving at it and how it will be satisfied, including
the payment conditions. In the case of financial assistance, the
aggregate value of the financial assistance and any interest payable
on the financial assistance;

X B AE, WIS R BT o5 RS A R 2R AR o] SCA Sk
s WIS A WS 55 SR B, D 23 Y U 55 4 B )
S B AR IV 55 1 W SR AR AL 5

(d) whether there are any material conditions attaching to the
transaction including a put, call or other option and details thereof;

5L Gy 7 A W AT AT B R A, A FE A L DA B Al AL
(put, call or other option) 2 H.4H5

(e) the value (book value, net tangible asset value and the latest
available open market value) of the assets being acquired or
disposed of, and in respect of the latest available valuation, the value
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(®

(g

(h)

(1)

@)

(k)

of the assets, the party who commissioned the valuation and the
basis and date of such valuation;

BN AL BB A E ORI E S A 57 1 E A s
NIFIHIED, BB S EIN S, S HE. RIEMER
— 7 LR AE B A H 3015

in the case of a disposal, the excess or deficit of the proceeds over
the book value, and the intended use of the sale proceeds. In the case
of an acquisition, the source(s) of funds for the acquisition;

FEAL B RAZ Sy, YA au AR T K T A B A 2, A
W M PUR A i . AESUIB R RS 5 b, O B3 <5 SRR
the net profits attributable to the assets being acquired or disposed
of. In the case of a disposal, the amount of any gain or loss on
disposal;

VA T WO B B B B AN . R s, AT
A 2t B A0 2K ) < 0

the effect of the transaction on the net tangible assets per share of

the issuer for the most recently completed financial year, assuming
that the transaction had been effected at the end of that financial year;

1B 5 53 A5 Bl 45 R I 55 4 E R 3EAT , 52 5 % R AT N il
ZEOR I 55 5 BRI B B 1 EL I 52 5
the effect of the transaction on the earnings per share of the issuer

for the most recently completed financial year, assuming that the
transaction had been effected at the beginning of that financial year;

(BB 3 o FE B 45 R AW 55 S E TP ey adk A7, 22 5 5k kAT A
TE S I A5 A IV 55 47 L B A i WA o B 520

the rationale for the transaction including the benefits which are
expected to accrue to the issuer as a result of the transaction;

Ao E, BARTUNAZ 5K AT Nt RO 2 5

whether any director or controlling shareholder has any interest,
direct or indirect, in the transaction and the nature of such interests;

A A B B R A 5 AE A2 B A A A B B R R A
PASGR SR 2 P T BAK
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(I)  details of any service contracts of the directors proposed to be

(m)

appointed to the issuer in connection with the transaction;
FAT NWEAT 5 5 A R EFHHAE RS & R

the relative figures that were computed on the bases set out in Rule
1006 of the SGX Main Board Rules; and

% EBNEE 1006 25 THAEAF 0 #T .

where a sale and purchase agreement is entered into, or a valuation
is conducted on the assets, the issuer must include a statement in the
announcement that a copy of the relevant agreement or valuation
record is available for inspection during normal business hours at
the issuer’s registered office for 3 months from the date of the
announcement.

AT LK I OB B AT ANE, AT AN IE 2 A
L BB S HE T 3N AN, AT AR AT
FE I H VIR 8] A 2 DA S B Al B 1 B AR

(2) Profit forecast information
A T B

If the above announcement contains a profit forecast, which may include

any statement which quantifies the anticipated level of future profits, the

issuer must announce the following additional information:

A IR 5 AT BT, T A2 T T A A ] A R R B R T
HKTHIBRIR,  RAT NALZREAN AT AT B

(a)

(b)

(©)

details of the principal assumptions including commercial
assumptions upon which the forecast is based;

TR TEAE AT A AR kAR

confirmation from the issuer’s auditors that they have reviewed the
basis and assumptions, accounting policies and calculations for the
forecast, and set out their report on the basis, assumptions, policies
and calculations;

FAT NBYH THITRR A AAT] C 5 B T A Sk qE AR B . 2 1H B
FATEE DT I ERAE . R BURATH R 7 R A
areport from the issuer’s financial adviser, if appointed, confirming
that it is satisfied that the forecast has been stated by the directors
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after due and careful enquiry. If no such adviser has been appointed
in connection with the transaction, the issuer must submit a letter
from the board of directors confirming that the forecast has been
made by them after due and careful enquiry.

RAT NEIM 55 A CAnsk 248> A MRS, A EN=
FHALE HAF A EW R QR AR RAT N B
A G AR R, KAT NBAHRALEHF 2 HIE R, FA
ATFEE AT 20 T 2 J e T30

(3) Information where an issuer accepts a profit guarantee or profit forecast
from a vendor

P52 25 AN ORALE/ B8 A TS 2

Where an issuer enters into a discloseable transaction, a major transaction,
a very substantial acquisition or a reverse takeover and accepts a profit
guarantee® or a profit forecast (or any covenant which quantifies the
anticipated level of future profits) from a vendor of assets/business, the
issuer’s announcement, pursuant to Rule 1010 of the SGX Main Board
Rules, must contain information on the profit guarantee or the profit
forecast, including the following:

WRAT NIT TGN T FEAZ S JEH B RIBIWER 7]
Wy, RS2 5 V5% 3207 W RE ORAIE ' B A T CElE AT FE A
ARSREAN T KPR FL)), WA AT AAETHHEEE 1010 2K HI 2
B W 2SR AT DRALE B A TN AR DS B RE, AR RAT WA

(a) the views of the board of directors of the issuer in accepting the

profit guarantee or the profit forecast and the factors taken into
consideration and basis for such a view;

RAT N F o0 42 2 R DR R B R T B L, B R
T 25 & PR A 2 A AR AR 5

(b) the principal assumptions including commercial basis and
assumptions upon which the quantum of the profit guarantee or the
profit forecast is based on;

15 Pursuant to Rule 1013 of the SGX Main Board Rules, the term “profit guarantee” can only be used for
transactions where the vendor will compensate the issuer in cash for any shortfall in the level of profits
when it provides a quantifiable anticipated level of future profits.

SRR EBRNES 1013 2%, “FNEELRIE” —1a) R T 3207 7SR At T 5 AL i U AR SR A 7K
PRUER, DAL AMEE RAT AN ORAIE AR AP AR AN S B85 I AL 5 o
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(©)

(d)

T BB, AR IR, DA DR RO B A A T
AT R R L AR

the manner and amount of compensation to be paid by the vendor in
the event that the profit guarantee or the profit forecast is not met

and the conditions precedent, if any, and the detailed basis for such
compensation; and

£ AR IE B0 ORAIE B A TN R DL T, 3205 B SOAS R A
T3 AR Jeth kAT (D RIAMERI PR ik A1

the safeguards put in place (such as the use of a banker’s guarantee)
to ensure the issuer’s right of recourse in the event that the profit
guarantee or the profit forecast is not met, if any.

B DR AT NAEAR i R AR B & A T AR TR 2] Clng ) (s o0
NI RBU R fREE S (B a0 fE A ARAT I 0RO

Where the transaction is a major transaction, a very substantial acquisition

or a reverse takeover, the sharcholders’ circular must include the above

information, and also contain the information below:

WG IR T EEL S AR B RAIW B W, 7 A i R I8
Bk rh ) bk e 32 ST R ORAIE/ BRI FIGIAE B cang, FRERITR
liieay

(a)

(b)

a confirmation from the auditors that they have reviewed the basis
and assumptions, accounting policies and calculations for the profit
guarantee or the profit forecast, and that the basis of preparation of
the profit guarantee or the profit forecast is consistent with the
accounting policies of the issuer; and

BT IR DA 3 O o R R IR B A R T R AR A AR . 2
THECRANTH 7 30, AR DR IE 550 48 4 F0000 1 23 1) i il 55
RAT NI TFBUR —8G M

a statement by the financial advisor to the issuer as to whether or
not they are of the view that the transaction is on normal commercial

terms and is not prejudicial to the interest of the issuer and its
shareholders.

WA 55 1) 1) A AT N R B Y, B WA 5 A %58 5
2 HEOE T R ML 2 AT 1, JF HAA S8 AT N R IR
PRI 2t o
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(4) Information where the profit guarantee/profit forecast has been met

A ORI/ 28R T S B B

Where the profit guarantee or the profit forecast has been met, the issuer
should immediately announce this via SGXNET. Where the profit
guarantee or the profit forecast has not been met, the issuer should
immediately announce via SGXNET the following:

T SR ) AR AIE B AR TR A B, R AT NN S RIE i 38 BT K
SGXNET Afi. Q0B AE AR UE 82 AT AR IE S, KAT AN ALRIIE
it SGXNET A4 LT W%

(a) the variance between the profit guarantee or the profit forecast and
the actual profit, and the reason for the variance;

R DR AT B 78 AR TN 5 S o R 0 2 e B L 22 St DR A
(b) any variation of the rights of the issuer; and
FAT NBCFI AT AT AR, A0

(c) the possible course(s) of action by the issuer to protect the interests
of the shareholders of the issuer, if any. Notwithstanding the above,
the issuer must provide timely updates on the specific course of
action including its progress and outcome of the action.

FAT N IRBE AT AR A 28 (AR ) TR B W] BEAT 3
gL, RAT N 0 S SR AT 5¢ BARAT 30 5 R B S
B, B AT BN

Where there is any material variation or amendment in the terms of an
agreement, the issuer must immediately make an announcement of such a
variation. Where such a variation prejudices the issuer, the board of
directors of the issuer must disclose the basis for the acceptance of such a
variation.

R B AE T R BB, AT N AL ZRNL R 23 A th 2R AR
o QIR AR FEO RAT NIE AR E . RAT N HH 2 I R 1%
SEIXFPAL T

1.1.4 Major transaction

EHEZY

92



Meeting Continuing Obligations:

HAN KUN

A Handbook for Companies Listed on Major Stock Exchanges X EIE SR
CBATHBEN S5 FEIEARZ S T BT A= FH Han Kun Law Offices
(1) Disclosure requirements

2)

I 2R

For major transactions, the issuer must immediately announce the basic
information in the same standard as in the above discloseable transaction,
such as profit forecast information, information where an issuer accepts a
profit guarantee or profit forecast from a vendor, and information where
the profit guarantee/profit forecast has been met, as soon as the terms of
the transaction are agreed upon.

FEAZ G, RKAT NLAERL 5y sk E M — 85, LRI A S5 ik
T P A8 Z A FIARHE R S AAE B . BATIAE . #3252T5
AR ORI/ A TR J2 LB A PRAIE/ 2 A1 T SE LS /S

Where a major transaction is not completed or is rescinded by any party

to the transaction due to any reason, the issuer must immediately
announce, via SGXNET), the following:

G0 2R T BEAZ By DA i DAL AR 6 BB 5 S AR AT — T 4, AT A
RS RIE B A2 e ki SGXNET 24 75 LR A 2 -

(a) the reasons for the non-completion or rescission of the transaction;
AL 5y AR 56 BRI ) JRL A«

(b) the financial impact of the non-completion or rescission on the
issuer; and

R 58 BB BT RAT NI 555605

(c) the possible course(s) of action to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the issuer. Notwithstanding the above, the issuer
must provide timely updates on the specific course of action
including its progress and outcome.

TREE A AT NBOR A 22 AT BEAT B 5 &6 AL, kAT Nk
IR I SR B S8 BARAT B0 7 REIBORTE S, AR F R A
a5k

Approval requirements

HEEER

Major transactions must be subject to the approval of a shareholders’

meeting. Therefore, the issuer must send a circular with the information
described in above subsection (1) to all shareholders. If the acquisition or
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&)

disposal of assets (other than shares) is not valued, the issuer must explain
why it did not commission a valuer for valuation.

FHZ Gy RS A B, AT N2 BT
RKGE R (D B Pk E SR E e . i ROl el i & 557 (I
BRI BAAE, RAT N AUERE LR AP Al (8 1 SR A
Requirements on specific industries

R EAT LR

If the major transaction relates to an acquisition or disposal of mineral, oil

or gas asset of a mineral, oil or gas company, the circular to shareholders
must contain:

IR EZZ G KSIW B 77 Al BRI AR T
T ECRAR TG, BB AR (1038 e 2

(a) a qualified person’s report that is prepared by an independent

qualified person;*®

FA S A5 B N i ) AR N Al 105

(b) a statement that no material changes have occurred since the
effective date of the qualified person’s report;

H A B el i AR RH I DIORAR e 28 B AR AL ) 7 B

(c) in the case of a major acquisition, the circular to shareholders must
contain a valuation report prepared by an independent qualified
person in accordance with the VALMIN Code, Society of Petroleum
Engineers’ Petroleum Resources Management System (SPE-PRMS)
or an equivalent standard that is acceptable to the Exchange.

HETERG—WFEI A, F8 4R A 5 2 a2 i phor
E M AN LIRYE VALMIN 5#I). SPE-PRMS BHTAC BT il #2527
) [7) S5 A 4 2 o1 PP i AL AR 7 o

In the case of real estate investment trusts (“REITs”) and property trusts,

16 A qualified person is a person who has appropriate experience in the type of activities that a mining or
oil and gas company has carried out or will carry out. Further guidelines can be found in the “Practice
Note 6.3 - Requirements for Mineral, Oil and Gas Companies”, available through the Main Board

Rules.

O FEMANLRIBEN T AMARR TR R O R B ET R S s R 5 T R d M4k
NG, 2 ISR ER ) (LSRG 6.3—XT 7 A7 il AR IR A 1 22

Ko
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a disposal of properties is considered to be in its ordinary course of
business, provided that the relative figures, as computed on the basis set
out in Rule 1006 of the SGX Main Board Rules do not exceed 50% based
on the aggregate value of all disposals in the last twelve months. It is only
necessary to disclose items (a) - (m) in paragraph 1.1.3(1) above; in the
event any of the relative figures calculated is 50% or more, under Rule
1014 of SGX Main Board Rules, unitholders’ approval must be obtained.

A P B {5+E (Real Estate Investment Trust, “REITs”) Fllif =
GBS, BRI FERMNEE 1006 it H A T ABL T2 12 MH
i &M ER 50%, MAEFIESEE, RAFEHE RS
1.1.3 (D) % (@) ~ (m) Tl FHIFEG RN 50% 0L, Wbk
N R BALFEE AN BdttE, BRI B iR EE 1014 2%
1.1.5 Very substantial acquisition or reverse takeover
E | ON LA L)
(1) Disclosure requirements

PR 2K

In a very substantial acquisition or reverse takeover, the issuer must, after

terms have been agreed, immediately announce the following:
FEH R AU S A, RAT N b U 2 308 il — 35U SZ R
AT AT I
(a) information of the same standard as paragraph 1.1.3 above; and
5 B 1.1.3 WO FEFRHERE B

(b) the latest three years of proforma financial information of the assets
to be acquired;

P 55 7 1) f i = AF OB LU 5545 2. (proforma financial
information);

Where a very substantial acquisition or reverse takeover is not completed
or is rescinded by any party to the transaction due to any reason, the issuer
must immediately announce via SGXNet the following:

AR SR AR BRI, 38 5 BIARAT— 7 AR 5 R BARUEH AR H 5 R f Ol
SR A, RAT NS RIE I B 58 BT A 15 BA R 25

(a) the reasons for the non-completion or rescission of the transaction;
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A2 53 A 56 AR R S A

(b) the financial impact of the non-completion or recission on the issuer;
and

R 58 BRI X R AT NI 55565 A

(c) the possible course(s) of action to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the issuer. Notwithstanding the above, the issuer
must provide timely updates on the specific course of action
including its progress and outcome.

DB R AT N R A 28 T REAT BN 5 5o ALk, K47 Nib
UL ST R BARAT B T R E S, A AE Lt e Al
R

(2) Approval requirements
HEHEZR

Rule 1015(1)(b) of the SGX Main Board Rules stipulates that a very
substantial acquisition must be made conditional upon the approval of
shareholders and the approval of the SGX RegCo.

EAHBUE 1015 (1) (b) RKBUE, 4 B ARAIBIRBS LI AR
HE LR Pt ey %A
(a) Approval of SGX RegCo

HraE itk e

For very substantial acquisitions, the target business to be acquired
must be profitable and financially sound, and the issuer must
consider whether the group will receive a positive cash flow from
the business operation. The enlarged group must comply with the
SGX Listing Rules’ requirements for the board of directors and
management'” of an issuer of an initial public offering (“IPO”) and

17 Pursuant to Rule 210(5) of the SGX Main Board Rules, the directors and management should have
appropriate experience and expertise in managing the business of the group, taking into account the
character and integrity of the issuer’s directors, management, founding shareholders and controlling
shareholders. The board of directors must be composed in the manner prescribed by law (including at
least 2 executive directors; independent directors must account for at least one-third of the issuer’s
board of directors, etc.). The directors must meet the independence requirements, and the issuer must
set up the necessary committees.
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chain listings.*® The issuer must appoint a competent, independent
valuer to value the assets. For very substantial acquisitions, SGX
RegCo may approve the acquisition unconditionally or
conditionally, or refuse to approve the acquisition as it deems
appropriate.

XFT AR ORI, WSO H Aok 55 2 25 g R 5 BV 55
RO R, FFHB A A 2 5 NG E TG 3 b 3R A 1E m) I
S R E A B AR A b T RN A T 5 IR
(initial public offering, “IPO” ) W KIT AMEF SN EHZE
VoS BT SRR, RAT N AT — AFRIR . L H)
TR B2 7 BEAT Al B . X IZ R ORI WO ST, B S
A TG S5 A B SR A At o, BRAE A D Id 24 I 4B 2 41k
AT ey = 101

For very significant reverse takeovers, Rule 1015(3) of the SGX
Main Board Rules stipulates that the newly established business and
the enlarged group must comply with certain requirements for an
IPO, including the equity structure, performance, financial position,
directors and management of the IPO issuer. Please refer to the
specific provisions for details. The issuer must appoint a competent
and independent valuer to value the incoming business. However,
according to Rule 1016 of the SGX Main Board Rules, if the assets
involved in the reverse acquisition are listed on the SGX RegCo,
this provision does not apply.

T ARE ERR B A, EARGHNES 1015 (3) 2K REHT K
L 5RO E SR A AE A TPO [ e, AN
PO JAT NI AE ) Mk Si. WS5IRDL . #3 E BR SR A 2
R, PERBEARFEFME . RAT N IRRAE— 44 FRER H AL

18 Pursuant to Rule 210(6) of the SGX Main Board Rules, if a subsidiary or a parent company applying
for listing has substantially the same assets and operations as an existing listed company, it will
generally not be considered suitable for listing. When making its decision, the Singapore exchange
will consider the applicant’s business or commercial reasons for listing.

VORI BRI 210 (5) 2k, TR HREN B E LRSS IE B8 AR,
HEEKATANNESR. FHZE . QUIGBR RIS I WA S lif5, EF S LAULIEE T
Rl (BFEZED 2 ZPATESR, MITHERLAGED ERTNEFSN =02 %), ERTE
MSTIEER, KAT N AR NZE F2s .

R BB ES 210 (6) %, WIREE LTI A A EREA W S I LT AR RS E
FEAMFE, WHEASPOANE S BT R IGER, 225 Bk 25 i i g B i ML s
.
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(b)

PEAR TSRS AR BOML 55 HEAT At 1 . (EARSE B s EE 1016 2%,
0 SR T W B B R AR AT i BT R, AN & AR 2R
7E o

Issuers must submit the following information to SGX RegCo:
RAT NAL IR E AT P4 AC LAR B}

(1)  compliance checklist under Rule 210 of the SGX Main Board
Rules (applicable to general SGX Main Board listed
companies) or Rule 222 of the SGX Main Board Rules
(applicable to real estate investment/development SGX Main
Board listed companies), whichever is applicable;

TR 210 % GEHT—MREREHAFD 53K
MMEE 222 5% GE M FAEFARCE T B = 58 o R
") E R R, DL i

(i) information checklist for shareholders’ circulars applicable to
item (b) below;

IHIEE (o) TiIE YA 38 o (1 BRI R

(ii1) for other information, including the resumes and particulars
of the controlling shareholders, directors and senior
management of the enlarged group, as well as their statements,
please see Rule 1015(4) of the